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SENATOR SKOUFI'S:  Ckay. Good norning,
everyone.

Thank you for joining us today.

Wel conme to today's New York State Senate
heari ng on event ticketing and consuner issues
related to the COVI D-19 pandenic

This hearing is part of the Conmittee on
| nvesti gati ons and Government Qperations' ongoing
investigation into event-ticketing practices.

And we're delighted to partner on today's
heari ng with Senator Anna Kaplan, and the Conmittee
on Conmerce, Econom c Devel opnment, and Snal |
Busi ness.

We hold today's hearing in the context of the
soon-to-sunset ticketing | aws.

Approxi mately 95 percent of the state's
ticketing statute is due to expire this July; a
statute that governs transferability, rules within
the primary and secondary markets, transparency in
t he mar ket pl ace, and nuch nore.

My firmbelief, that two fundanenta
consi derations exi st as we contenpl ate our response
to the forthcom ng sunset.

First is the state of the live-event

i ndustry, which has obviously been devastated by the
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pandem c.

In particular, the venues, and all the
artists, performers, and enpl oyees, that create the
very entertai nment around which ticketing is made
possi bl e, nmust be supported and top of mnd as we
nove ahead with possible refornmns.

There is anple evidence that consuners are
anxious to return to concerts, sporting events, and
theater, and, thus, the ticketing nmarkets wl|
naturally rebuild, but only if the entertainnent
itself is available and continues to thrive.

Qur second fundanental consideration nust be
on behal f of the consuner.

Much like the industry, mllions of
New York State consuners have been financially
devastated by this pandem c, and we nust doubl e- down
on our efforts to create a fair marketplace for them
to engage with, one in which average New Yorkers are
not sucker-punched wi th outrageous fees, or |ocked
out of events, because thousands of tickets were
pre-sold, held back, specul ated, or resold at
enor nous mar kups.

These two considerations, fortunately, are
not mutual ly excl usive.

Whil e we hear from sone industry stakehol ders
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today that insist on the need to do a straight
extension of the existing |aws under the guise of
COVI D uncertainty, make no m stake, these very sane
st akehol ders have advocated for strai ght extenders
in previous years when the | aws were due to sunset,
and woul d be doing the sane this year, pandem c or
not .

| believe we can, and shoul d, update our
ticketing laws in the coming nonths in such a way
that fosters a supportive environment for the
state's live events, all while leveling the playing
field for consuners.

| ook forward to our hearing today, and
gathering input to that end.

Thank you.

And now | want to turn it over to my partner
t oday, and that's Chai rwoman Anna Kapl an.

SENATOR KAPLAN: Thank you, Senator Skoufis.

First, | want to say good norning to
everybody. Thank you for joining us this norning.

| also want to thank Senator Skoufis for
partnering with ne on this inportant joint hearing
t oday.

Senat or Skoufis has been at the forefront of

exam ning this industry, and |'m appreciative of his
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part nershi p.
| would also like to welcone all of my other
col | eagues that are joining us this norning.

This joint hearing is being held as a

col |l aborative effort between the Senate Conmttee on

Commer ce, Econom c Devel opnent, and Smal | Busi ness,
and the Senate Commttee on Investigation and
Government Operations, with the goal of receiving
constructive testinony fromthe stakehol ders here
bef ore us today.

Both commttees are focused on hearing
testimony on a host of issues, which include:

Concerns around any potential ticketing
practices that negatively inpact consuners;

As well as receiving testinony on how this
i ndustry is noving towards econom c recovery
foll owi ng the devastating effects of the COVID 19
pandem c;

And what New York State can do to support
this industry that brings New Yorkers and visitors
fromall over the world to our renowned
entertai nment and sports venues.

From basebal | to Broadway, fromBuffalo to
Bel mont, the ticketing industry is a gatekeeper for

so many peopl e seeking to access the worl d-cl ass
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entertainment that this great state has to offer.

It is ny hope that the testinony presented
today will help us get nore ticket holders in seats
qui ckly, safely, and nore affordably, and bring back
our vibrant tourist econony, and the thousands of
j obs for New Yorkers that are supported by this
i ndustry.

Wth that, I"'mgrateful to have this
opportunity to hear fromthe stakeholders, and |'m
eager to hear all of your testinonies.

Thank you.

SENATOR SKOUFI S: Thank you, Senator Kapl an.

And now we'll hear sonme renmarks from your
ranker, Senator M ke Martucci .

SENATCOR MARTUCCI : Thanks, Senator Skoufi s,
and thank you, Senator Kapl an.

Great to see everyone this norning.

First, | want to start by thanking both of
you, our chair people, for having this event today.

Certainly, trenendously beneficial for nme, as
t he new nenber, to cone up to speed on this issue,
and have an opportunity to hear fromthe industry.

You know, Senator Skoufis really touched on
the inmportant points that | wanted to touch on in ny

openi ng, which is, you know, certainly, it has been




© 00 ~N oo o b~ w N P

N NN N NN P R PR R R R R R R
gag A W N P O © 0o N oo 0o M W N -+ O

a tough year for businesses around New York; a
particularly tough year for the ticketing industry,
and, effectively, sales in 2020 were zero doll ars.

So, you know, while |I conpletely understand
the struggle that this industry faces today, you
know, | think that, certainly, you know, the
sentinent that | want to start off with is, you
know, | think that we need to be very focused on
testinmony today, in terns of the struggles of the
i ndustry; on how the industry feels |ike we can best
hel p recovery, as we nove forward, as popul ation
becomes nore and nore vacci nat ed.

Certainly, I know ny big concern is that any
changes that we nake to this law, which could be
beneficial to both consumers, the industry,
potentially, and hopefully, both, are done in a way
t hat makes sure that we protect an industry that
clearly is very fragile at this tine.

And, you know, | think, you know, really,
just lastly, the last thing I'll touch on before
| turn it back over you to, Chairman, so that we can
get on with the testinony and the questions, is, you
know, | think that allowing this law to expire,
sinply expire, would be a big m stake.

So it is inmportant that somethi ng happens,
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because there clearly is a need for us to act,
whether it is a straight extender, which, you know,
going into this, frankly, nmy intuition tells ne
makes sense.

But | do |ook forward to the testinony today,
and hearing fromthe industry, and hearing the
concerns, because, certainly, there are, you know,
conponents of this that we could all collectively
| ook at.

So | look forward to the testinony today.

| look forward to sonme questions that | have.

And, again, | thank ny coll eagues for hosting
this event so that we can get sone inportant
i nformati on.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S:  All right. Thank you,
Senat or Martucci .

And before we nove on, | want to acknow edge
nmenber s/ col | eagues who have joined us so far.

They i ncl ude Senator Kam nsky,

Senat or Rei chlin-Melnick, Senator Gaughran,
Senat or Pal unbo, Senator O Mara.

And | think that's what we've got so far

| suspect one or two others nay join us.

And just sone ground rules, heading in:

Each witness will be provided three m nutes
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to provide testinony.

And t hose of you who have submitted witten
testinmony that may well be | onger than
three mnutes, we just ask you to sumarize to the
extent practicable.

Then, follow ng testinony for each panel,
there will be questions and answers. Each -- each
menber, both chair and rank-and-file of the two
commttees hosting today's hearing, will be given
five-minute allotnents for questions.

Subsequent rounds/second rounds w Il be
permtted.

And, if we are joined by nenbers of the
Senate that are not on these two commttees, they'll
be provided three minutes for a single round of
guesti ons.

So, with that, I would |ike to introduce, and
wel cone, our first witness, which is,

David Marcus -- or, who is David Marcus. He's the
executive vice president, head of global nusic, at
Ti cket mast er.

Wl cone.

DAVI D MARCUS: Thank you very much

Chairs Skoufis and Kapl an, Senators O Mara

and Martucci, and other distingui shed Senat ors,
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t hanks for the opportunity to testify today at this
i mportant hearing.

My name is David Marcus. | amthe executive
vi ce president of global nusic for Ticketnaster.

| spent ny career at the intersection of
nmusi ¢ and technology, and I'mprivileged to be part
of an industry that brings people together to share
in their common enjoynment of nusic and the artists
t hey | ove.

As you noted, the COVID 19 pandem c, and the
correspondi ng | ocal - and state gover nnment - nandat ed
shut downs across the nation, have significantly
i npacted the |live-event industry.

Qur conpany, our enpl oyees, and the thousands
of workers in small businesses depend on live
events.

By m d-March 2020 the pandem c forced
Live Nation to cease all tours, and close its
venues, to help mtigate the spread of the virus.

Live nmusic in the United States generated
$10.9 billion in 2019 in revenue, that all but
di sappeared in 2020.

And, now, many fear |osing a second year of
live entertainnent to this pandem c

The inpact of these closures has been
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st aggeri ng.

At the onset of the pandem c, Ticketmaster
reacted quickly, to adjust operations, and focus on
reversing the flow of noney to get refunds in the
hands of fans.

This was no sinple task, as it required us to
cl awback revenue from event organizers in order to
process refunds for cancel ed and postponed events.

Over the course of 2020, Ticketnaster
refunded over 27.4 mllion tickets, amounting to
alnost $3 billion in gross transaction val ue.

No vendor, venue, or artist has been inmune
fromthe inpact of this crisis.

95 percent of all events in 2020 were
cancel ed or postponed, and 77 percent of the
mllions of live-event workers | ost 100 percent of
t heir incone.

97 percent of contract workers -- that's
backup nusici ans, sound m xers, bus drivers,

I ighting conpanies, et cetera -- have been out of
wor k since March of 2020.

This i npact has been felt hard in
New York State, the gl obal epicenter of live
entertai nment, which also plays a significant role

in local communities around the state and throughout
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the country.

As an industry, we're all hurting.

Venues and pronoters around the country saw
revenue evaporate.

The federal Shuttered Venue Operator G ant
program which secured over 16 billion in federal
grants, in what was supposed to a boon for
i ndependent venues and tal ent managers, has yet to
i ssue, or even accept, a single grant, and that
programwi ||l only benefit a mnority of |ive-event
wor ker s.

Most of the businesses on today's panel are
goi ng around 13 nonths wi t hout revenue, and we are
still without a clear road nap to reopeni ng.

Until state and |ocal governnments provide us
with that road nmap, live entertainment will renmain
shuttered.

Unli ke restaurants or airlines that can
operate at reduced capacity, live entertainnent is
| argely an all-or-nothing proposition.

Tours and concerts, in general, operate under
thin profit margins and require nore than just
partial openings.

We need enough capacity to make live

econonmics -- live events econom cally feasible.
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Live nmusic, in particular, is very seasonal,
and requires nonths of coordination to align
resources, production, talent, along with effective
tour routes spanning dozens of cities.

Current reopening requirenments vary greatly
across cities, counties, and states.

That pat hwork of approaches incl udes
prohi bitive capacity limtations, different rules
around food and beverage, and highly politicalized
views of health verification, with sone
jurisdictions requiring it for events, while others
ban such tactics.

We can begin the | engthy process of booking
artists, reopening venues, and mappi ng out tours
only after there is a clear, consistent guidance
fromstate and | ocal governnents.

However, in recent weeks, states |ike
California and Connecticut have announced conplete
road maps and tinelines for reopening, enabling us
to begin the process of reigniting the economc
engine that is live entertainnment.

We recogni ze our future is not a return to
business as it was before the pandem c, but a new
normal as far as safety precautions and protocol s

are concer ned.
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We have engaged nedical and sanitation
experts to advise us on best practices for
establishing a new normal for the health and safety
of fans, workers, and artists.

Recent fan surveys indicate that the demand
will be there when the shows return, with 95 percent
of fans expected to -- expecting to attend concerts
agai n once the pandemc is over.

Wiile the focus of today's hearing is on
ticketing, on behalf of the live-entertain industry,
we ask for your help in advocating for consistent,
reasonabl e reopeni ng gui dance across the state for
all types of venues and events.

As we approach this new safer normal, and our
i ndustry gets back on its feet, we | ook forward to
engagi ng with you and ot her policynmakers on how to
better protect fans from fraudul ent and deceptive
practices in ticketing live events that underm ne
the fan experience and their enjoynent of live
events.

Wth regard to ticketing, Ticketnaster
remai ns commtted to devel opi ng products and
processes that provide transparency, and create a
safe and reliable ticket marketplace, that gets

tickets into the hands of real fans.
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Despite the --

SENATOR SKOUFIS: 1'd like to ask you to,
pl ease, if you can, wap up. Your time is up.

DAVI D MARCUS: (Oh.

Wel |, thank you for the opportunity to
participate in this hearing.

We | ook forward to working with you to get
the live-event industry back on its feet.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: G eat.

Thank you.

"Il -- before | kick it off with sone
guestions, | wanted to acknow edge, we've been
j oi ned by Senator Hoylnman, as well as
Senat or Pam Hel m ng.

So, thank you, M. Marcus, and | appreciate
your attendance today.

You' re obviously a nmajor player,
Ti cketmaster; Live Nation is a major player, in this
process.

Just, for the record, what -- what is your
mar ket share within the primry market?

|"ve read it's about 80 percent.

Does that sound right?

DAVI D MARCUS: | --

SENATCOR SKOUFI'S:  Wthin the United States.
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DAVID MARCUS: |'m sorry?

SENATCOR SKOUFI'S:  Wthin the United States.

DAVI D MARCUS: | think that naybe sounds
right.

| think it varies dramatically, depending on
t he venue size. Right?

SENATOR SKOUFI S:  Ckay.

DAVI D MARCUS: The club's business, we don't
have nearly that share.

SENATOR SKOUFI S:  Ckay.

Can you explain what your relationship -- or,
how your relationship works with venues?

So ny understanding is that there is a
contract that's devel oped between Ti cket naster and
venues for the purpose of selling tickets at that
venue.

Wt hout going into specifics, obviously, and
into, you know, the details of contracts, which
| know you neither want to or perhaps can do, can
you just broadly speak to, are there -- do you get a
cut fromthe venue for tickets that are sold for an
event ?

Can you just speak in very broad terns what
t hose contracts | ook Iike?

DAVI D MARCUS: Ticketnmaster acts as an agent
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for its clients -- its venue clients. W act as the
excl usive ticketing agent.

We contract, usually, a nulti-year agreenent,
to provide software, service, customer service, a
ticketing marketplace, and access to all of our
t echnol ogy pl atf orns.

And, in return, we negotiate the service fees
that will be charged for providing that, on top of
the tickets. And we typically --

SENATOR SKOUFI'S:  Are those -- sorry.

Are those service fees you' re tal king about
the service fees that the consunmers ultimtely w nd
up payi ng?

DAVI D MARCUS:  Yes.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: O are you tal king about
separate fees that the venue is going to pay to you?

DAVI D MARCUS: No. Typically, we share the
mnority portion of the service fees that are
charged to the consuner.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: Ckay. So --

DAVID MARCUS: That's how --

SENATCR SKOUFI'S:  So the venue does not
ultimately wite a check to Ticketmaster in any way,
shape, or fornf

DAVI D MARCUS: Correct.
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SENATOR SKOUFI'S: Cot it.

DAVI D MARCUS: (Si nul t aneous speakers;
i ndi scernible.)

SENATOR SKOUFI S:  Ckay.

Soif | may then turn to the primry
mar ket pl ace that you're engaged in, and sone of
t hose fees.

So just this norning, for the sake of, you

know, fresh information, | picked a random bal | gane.
| -- and | -- at this particular gane, | think it's
for this coming Saturday, | |ooked at cheap seats.

$19, two tickets; so $38.

And, on those $38, for two tickets,
Ti cket master was | ooking to charge $11 in a
conveni ence fee, and $4.10 on a per-order fee; so a
little over $15 in fees on $38 in tickets, which
make up 40 percent of the actual ticket price.

At that very sane ball gane, we | ooked at sone
nore expensive seats.

$89 for two tickets; so $178 for the two.

And on those two tickets was a, very nodestly
i ncreased over those this cheap seats,
$15 conveni ence fee, as opposed to the $11, and the
sane $4.10 per-order fee.

So, in that case, where the consumer was
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going to pay $19.10 on $178 worth of tickets, which
wor ks out to 11 percent of the total ticket price.

Do you see a problemw th the regress --
regressivity of these fees, whereby, if you're,
effectively, a wealthier famly, |ooking to take,
you know, a spouse or sone kids, a famly, out to a
bal | game, you only pay 11 percent in fees on the
total ticket price, versus, if you're a
wor ki ng-cl ass or | ower-income famly, just | ooking
to get to the stadium trying to get the cheapest
seats, you wind up footing a bill of 40 percent of
the ticket prices in fees?

I's there an issue with that?

DAVI D MARCUS: You know, fees are negoti ated
with the venue, and typically set at the venue's
di rection.

The venues understand and know their
comunities better than we do. And we | ook to them
for gui dance on what the fee schedul e shoul d | ook
like.

There is a cost to serve every custoner in a
matter that -- that the value of the ticket price.

And | think the dollars that are paid,
irrespective of the percent of face value, that is,

reflect the cost to serve.




© 00 ~N oo o b~ w N P

N NN N NN P R PR R R R R R R
gag A W N P O © 0o N oo 0o M W N -+ O

22

SENATOR SKOUFI'S:  Ckay.

And so, to that end --

And this is nmy |ast question before | turn it
over.

-- so these are conveni ence fees.

| actually, separately, |ooked up a Rangers
ganme, and there weren't conveni ence fee there.
There were service charges.

Is it all the sanme?

You know, whether they're convenience fees,
per-order fees, service charges, is there a
di stinction between any of these, or is this just
what you're calling "a fee" to make noney?

DAVI D MARCUS: Yeah, it's what the client --

how -- what the -- yes, that's the way we nake the
noney -- we make our noney. And it's what the
client wants to call "the fees" on the pages we host
for them

SENATOR SKOUFI S:  Ckay.

Ckay. 1'Il cone back and continue with nore,
but 1"l turn it over.

Senat or Kapl an, do you have anything right
now?

SENATOR KAPLAN:  Yes.

SENATOR SKOUFI S:  Ckay.
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SENATOR KAPLAN. M. Marcus, if you could
tell me, what is the |ong-termoutl ook for your
i ndustry? And how long do you think it will before
you're fully recovered?

DAVI D MARCUS: Well, that's a great question.

| -- 1 can tell you that it has been an
extraordinarily difficult 13 nonths.

W are starting to see events go on sale for
shows in 2022.

W' re not yet seeing any real clarity on
shows perform ng in 2021.

There's sone hope that the fall will start to
see a return of live events.

And those two things are rel ated.

As | noted in ny opening coments, it takes a
significant anmount of time for artists to plan a
t our.

They have to invest a significant anmount of
nmoney in, and conmt to, production. |It's very
difficult for artists to get any cancellation
i nsurance.

So if they're going to plan a tour and put it
on sale, they have to know it's going to play.

No artist who had any events cancel ed or

reschedul ed or postponed in 2020 wants to subject
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their fans to that again.

So there's very nuch a wait-and-see.

We're hopeful that this year provides sone
relief, at least on the ticket-sal es side.

But until we have clarity and gui dance on
consi stent reopeni ng gui delines, across the country,
and really globally, because this is a gl obal
business, it's going to be very hard to predict what
that return | ooks I|ike.

SENATOR KAPLAN: On another note, on issue of
specul ative tickets.

Do you, you know, commrunicate w th other
conpani es, identifying these incidences?

And does the Ticketnaster go at it al one, or
does it work with other, | guess, brokers, or other
venues, in ternms of finding the speculative tickets?

DAVI D MARCUS: Yeah, so -- so, you know,
specul ative ticketing is sonething that happens on
ot her market pl aces; not on ours. Right?

We don't permt the -- the posting of any
ticket that has not already been sold out of the
primary market.

So we will -- we don't police other sites; we
just don't have the resources to police other sites.

We are sonetines aware of when specul ative
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ticketing is happening, and we can make that

i nformati on known to our clients and our pronoters,
but, typically, there's not very much that we or

t hey can do about it.

It is the business practice of other
mar ket pl aces to permt the sale of ticket that are
not in hand.

It's a practice we think is unfair to
CONSUIErs.

It leads to bad behavior. It leads to risk
of non-fulfillnment when the seller can't buy the
ticket for the price they sold it at, or for |ess
than the price they sold it at.

And it is just creates all kinds of the wong
incentives, and confusion for consuners.

SENATOR KAPLAN. Okay. | appreciate it.

DAVI D MARCUS: Thank you.

SENATOR KAPLAN: |1'Ill come back again |ater.
But [inaudi ble renote audio] |'m done.

SENATOR SKOUFI S:  Ckay.

Just as a rem nder, any coll eagues that woul d
like to ask questions, if you could just use the
"rai se hand" function within Zoom

"1l now turn it over to Senator Kam nsky.

SENATOR KAM NSKY: Thank you very much
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M. Marcus, are you able to tell us what --
why you are agai nst, or why you m ght not want to
| et custoners know, how much tickets you are hol di ng
back at the begi nning of a sale?

Li ke, |1 think everyone assunes that all the
ticket are on sale. And that when they all go in
five mnutes, that neans 100 percent of tickets were
sold out, and, obviously, drives up pricing, going
forward

What is the downside to saying, We're only
rel easing 15 percent of the tickets?

DAVI D MARCUS: Well, | mean -- | appreciate
t he questi on.

So, first of all, about 10 or 15 percent of
all live events have that kind of sales profile that
you just articulated, selling out in 5 m nutes.

The vast majority of tickets never sell.

Ri ght ?

40 percent -- not the vast mpjority of
tickets -- but 40 percent of live-entertainnent
tickets just never sell.

So the problemis not increasing scarcity.

The problemis, how do we sell nore tickets?

Qur clients are in the business of selling

tickets. They don't hold back tickets.
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"Hol ds,"™ which is an industry termthat
describes tickets that are not being offered for

sale, don't exceed 5 percent of the tickets that we

sel I.

And - -

SENATOR KAM NSKY: M. Marcus, just to be
clear: |I'mbeing told by people in your industry
that there are tines, for big concerts, that, |ike,

90 percent, or 80 or 70 percent, are not on sale
right away. That you put like a very limted anount
and it drives up demand.

That's not true? That's all BS?

DAVI D MARCUS: That's factually not the case.
| nean, it's provably not the case.

SENATOR KAM NSKY: So | -- | think that,
t hen, we can get sonewhere, if you want to say what
that nunber is, because, if it's not a big one, then
why not put it out there, and then that will put
this to bed. No?

DAVI D MARCUS: No, because that's not --
because there is no nunber.

The nunber depends on what -- who -- who --
what audience is being invited into the -- to buy
tickets.

Who's the marketing partner?
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What comm tnents have they made about maki ng
tickets available to people who hold a particul ar
credit card, or who listen to Spotify?

O, you know, what were -- what was the trade

t hat was made between the pronoter and -- or, the
event organi zer and the marketing partner?

The argunent about there being "a nunber”
that should be put out, it doesn't help consuners
know anyt hi ng.

What it really does, and it -- it's a snpke
screen for the broker community, it hel ps them
figure out what the supply-and-demand profil e | ooks
like.

And - -

SENATOR KAM NSKY: But why can't the average
New Yor ker know what the supply-and-demand profile
is?

| nmean, it's just transparency; it's just
sayi ng what's out there. No?

DAVI D MARCUS: No, because there is no
nunber .

What is -- there's no nunber that can be
given that won't change | ater.

There are all kinds of holds that happen.

Hol ds for press.
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Hol ds for friends and famly of the artist.

Hol ds for production kills.

Thi nk about a big artist coming into an arena
wi th brand-new production. They have to fit it in
t he venue the day before the event. And then they
realize that some of the seats that they thought
were bl ocked, that didn't have good |ine of sight,
or the stage was going to occupy it, are now
avai |l abl e for sale.

Now, how do we change the nunber of tickets
t hat are avail abl e?

Ri ght ?

Those tickets need to be sold for the
econoni cs of the show. So now we have a change
in -- in the way the production works.

And it's not just the tickets at the front of
the stage. It's the tickets on the side of the
stage that they thought were going to be bl ocked by
speakers.

It is a real-tinme changi ng nunber.

It isa-- it is -- the argunent that it
sonmehow provi des transparency is kind of
nonsensi cal , because there's just -- it doesn't give
any insight into sonmething that anybody can nmake a

deci si on on.
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The tickets -- our job is to sell as many
tickets as we can on behalf of our clients.

They all make noney by selling tickets.

Nobody makes noney by hol ding tickets.

SENATOR KAM NSKY: (Ckay. Let nme ask anot her
guesti on.

DAVI D MARCUS: | want to clear up about
one ot her thing.

The -- the -- Ticketmaster sells tickets off
an interactive seat nap.

The profile -- the demand profile of every
event is the sane: Massive demand when tickets are
first made available. Then demand falls off until
the show. And then it comes back slightly the week
of the show.

It is in everybody's interest to make all the
tickets they have for sale available at the
begi nni ng of that curve; that's when peopl e cone.

That's how marketing dollars are spent in the
mar ket .

That's where investnent is made in attracting
f ans.

That's where we invest in systens that sel
|ots of tickets to people under a nassive demand

profile.
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Hol ding tickets back for a tinme when it's
i mpossible to find fans to buy them doesn't serve
anybody.

SENATOR KAM NSKY:  kay.

Can | -- can | ask one nore question, please?

DAVI D MARCUS:  Yes.

SENATOR KAM NSKY: Are there concerts right
now t hat you have custoners for, that got cancel ed
due to COVID, who are still out the noney and don't
know what's going to happen?

DAVID MARCUS: | don't believe so.

SENATOR KAM NSKY: Ckay. So that's been --
that's been -- that's been worked on.

Ckay. | appreciate it.

Thank you, Senators Skoufis and Kapl an, and
for this hearing.

SENATOR SKQOUFI' S:  Thank you.

Senat or Hoyl man.

SENATOR HOYLMAN:  Thank you, Senator Skoufis;
t hank you, Senator Kaplan, for holding this hearing,
especially since we are looking at this law and its
potential renewal in terns of the ticket resale.

And | just wanted to ask M. Marcus, you
have resale -- we had a reselling business.

And | carry a bill, and wanted your opinion
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on that it, that would ban the resale of tickets
that were offered free to the public.

And t he nost infanous exanple, | think you're
famliar with, is when the Pope appeared at
Madi son Square Garden, and thousands of tickets
were -- were released to the public, to many
religious people. And then were scal ped on the
secondary market, preventing a | ot of devoted
Catholics fromthe opportunity to attend that nass.

Do you think that's acceptabl e?

DAVI D MARCUS:  No.

You know, interestingly, there's an event
taki ng place here in Los Angeles in the next couple
of weeks, the Gobal Ctizen Event. It's a free
ticket for vaccinated health-care workers.

And, you know, we're in the process of
sendi ng out notices to the other marketpl aces,
| etting them know that, you know, this is a free
ticket, it's intended for people who have qualified
as a vaccinated health-care worker. Please don't
all ow these to be posted on your site.

| will say, | think the event that you
descri bed was so distasteful to so many in the
industry, that there is, for the mjor marketpl aces,

generally, a -- an inclination not to offer those
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ki nds of tickets for sale.

Now, that's the major narketpl aces.

And so | appreciate that there are sone who
may think they fly below the radar and can get away
with that.

| do think it's distasteful.

SENATOR HOYLMAN: So you don't -- you don't
resell free tickets, such as "Shakespeare in the
Park," on -- and -- and -- and you woul d support
| egi sl ation, banning the resale of free or
charitable tickets?

DAVI D MARCUS:  Yes.

SENATOR HOYLMAN:  Thank you very much.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S:  Thank you, Senator Hoyl man.

Senat or Hel m ng.

SENATOR HELM NG Thank you, Senator Skoufis;
and thank you, Senator Kaplan, for hosting this
heari ng.

M. Marcus, to continue on the subject of
reselling tickets, it's my understandi ng that nost
tickets these days are digital tickets that are
created by Ticket master.

In order for a person to resell them the
seller has to transfer themto the new buyer through

the Ticketnaster system even if the sale occurs on
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a conpetitor's marketpl ace.

So I"mconcerned that, in this way, the
personal Iy identifiable information of your
conpetitors' custoners is available then to your
conpany.

So | was wondering if you can provide an
assurance that you're not marketing to consuners,
using that information that's being gained in this
manner ?

DAVI D MARCUS: So our digital ticketing
system was devel oped for a nunber of reasons.

One, to ensure that all the tickets that are
delivered to the end fan, regardl ess of what the
mar ket pl ace to which it is delivered, are valid, and
that the event organi zers know who's conming into
their buildings; so, to conbat fraud, provide
safety.

In a post-pandemic world, the ability of
every fan to have their own contactless ticket on
their personal device is increasingly inportant.

W are a gl obal conpany. W are
GDPR-conpliant, we're CCPA-conpliant, we conply with
the privacy |aws of every jurisdiction that we
operate in, and we take that very seriously.

So we don't market to anybody who doesn't




© 00 ~N oo o b~ w N P

N NN N NN P R PR R R R R R R
gag A W N P O © 0o N oo 0o M W N -+ O

35

want to be marketed to. And we provide all Kkinds of
opportunities to opt in to the marketing; not opt
out of marketing.

So we take the privacy and security of fans
very seriously.

SENATCR HELM NG  So to these custoners that
you glean their information through a conpetitive
mar ket pl ace, through this transaction that they're
doi ng, are you saying that you -- Ticketmaster would
then reach out to themand ask themif they would
like to opt in to Ticketmnmaster narketing?

DAVI D MARCUS: No. They have to opt in.
They' re (sinmultaneous speakers; indiscernible) --

SENATOR HELM NG You're asking --

Ti cketmaster is asking themif they would like to
opt in?

DAVI D MARCUS:  No.

SENATOR HELM NG So you are -- "no"?

DAVI D MARCUS:  No.

SENATOR HELM NG Ckay.

So you're not using information that you're
gl eaning through this sort of transaction between
the seller and the buyer on a conpetitive
(si mul taneous speakers; indiscernible) --

DAVI D MARCUS: We use that information to get
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the fans safely in the building, so the building
knows who's in there; who their fan is, and who
their custoner is.

That's what that information is used for.

SENATOR HELM NG Ckay. Thank you.

SENATOR SKOUFI' S:  Thank you, Senator Hel m ng.

"1l -- 1"l take another turn here.

And, again, if any nenbers want to ask
guestions, just use the "raise hand" function.

So, just, M. Mrcus, returning back to our
conversation before about fees, you nay know,
currently, in New York State law, Article 25 all ows
for, quote/unquote, reasonable service fees in the
primary and secondary markets.

How do you determ ne what qualifies as
"reasonabl e" as you figure out what fees to charge?
DAVI D MARCUS: Well, as | noted in ny

previ ous response, the fees that we charge are
typically set by the client, and the client knows
what the market is. And, again, the goal is to sel
tickets.

And, you know, in any market, what's
reasonabl e is what buyers and sellers, you know,
agree is fair.

And | think that the market dynamcs tell the
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clients what -- what those fees should be set at.

The goal is not to disincent [sic] purchase;
quite the opposite. Right?

W're trying to keep the fees at a | evel that
supports the -- again, the cost to serve, both the
fan and the client, and shows that the -- that the
bui | di ngs can operate, and we can provide themthe
t echnol ogy they need to get people in the buildings
day after day.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S:  So your definition of
"reasonabl e" is, according to your words, what the
buyer and consuners feel is fair.

And so have -- have you -- and, |ook, you
know, you as a prinmary, and al so a secondary,
mar ket pl ace at Ti cketmaster, you are charged with
neeting this letter of the | aw

And so have you polled your custoners as to
whet her they think these service fees are fair?

DAVI D MARCUS: |'m not aware of any poll of
custoners, to ask whether the service fees are fair.

And | don't think that that was what | said.
| think you m scharacterized nmy, or msheard ny,

t esti nony.
What is fair is what the client venues in the

mar kets believe their consuners are willing to pay
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to attend their live events.

That was ny -- that's the way | phrased it.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: So you just believe it's
what ever the buyers feel their custonmers are willing
to pay?

That is your definition of nmeeting the
"reasonabl eness" provision within the | aw?

DAVID MARCUS: | -- | don't have an opinion
on what the reasonabl e provision -- "reasonabl eness”
provision in the | aw nmeans.

SENATOR SKOUFI S:  Ckay.

| want to talk a little bit about your
platinumtickets that are offered through
Ti cket mast er .

Are these -- are these the hol dback tickets
t hat Senator Kam nsky was tal ki ng about, that are,
effectively, provided to Ticketnmaster, that aren't
used by the friends of the artists, the press,
et cetera?

| s that where those platinumtickets cone

fronf
DAVI D MARCUS:  No.
SENATOR SKOUFI'S:  Where do they conme fronf
DAVI D MARCUS: They're -- they're -- they
cone fromthe same tickets that are -- that
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| mentioned before are nmade avail able for sale at
t he on-sell.

The point of a platinumticket is an attenpt
by the event organi zer to get market value for the
best tickets in the house.

The exi stence of the secondary market is just
a reflection of pricing inefficiency that event
or gani zers have

They don't understand the demand, because
they can't -- it's very difficult to perceive in
advance of making tickets avail able for sale.

They're trying to maxim ze sell-through at
t he on-sal e when they' ve depl oyed their marketing
dol | ars can.

And in that limted wi ndow, which is
typically anywhere from you know, 12 to 24 hours
after they first make tickets available, that's
where the maxi num demand i s.

So the platinumare dynam cally-priced
tickets, that are attenpting to adjust prices to
mat ch the demand, and all ow the event organizer to
extract the value that woul d ot herwi se be extracted
by resellers, who are just (sinmultaneous speakers;
i ndi scernible) --

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: Do you -- do you place a
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[imt on how many platinumtickets can be picked
asi de by the event organizer?

DAVI D MARCUS: There is no picked aside.

Those tickets are available for sale |ike any
ot her ticket, and we don't place a limt.

Typi cal ly, event organizers ask for dynamc
pricing on 5 to 10 percent of their tickets.

But --

SENATCOR SKOUFI'S: So there's no limt?

| nmean, so, in theory, an event organi zer
can -- can tell you, okay, we're going to put for,
you know, face value, public sale, half of our
tickets, and we're going to reserve the other half
of tickets for your platinumservices?

Is that -- is that possible?

DAVID MARCUS: | take issue with the word
"reserved" to the extent that you nean that they are
not available to the public.

They are just tickets that are priced
dynami cally. They're -- they are as avail able as
the face-value ticket in the back of the house.

SENATCR SKOUFI'S:  No, under stood.

But, you know, |I'm sure you' ve seen the sane
reports, and not -- you don't need reports because

you're engaged in this -- that, you know, literally,
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seconds after an event will sell out, there have
been i nstances where, then, suddenly, hundreds, if
not thousands of tickets appear on your platinum
services for ten tinmes the face value. And,
literally, they are the seat next door to the seat
that just sold for, let's say, $100, that you' re now
selling for $1,000.

You see no problemw th that?

DAVID MARCUS: | don't -- | take issue with
your characterization and the nunbers you're using.

| supervise that division at the conpany, |'m
famliar with the practices.

They're -- seats do not get nmarked up
ten times. There are not thousands --

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: | have exanples of it.

| nmean, you're saying it never happens?

DAVID MARCUS: | woul d be shocked -- | would
| ove to see the exanpl es.

A 10x nmultiple on face-value ticket is
extrene, and woul d represent --

SENATOR SKOUFI' S:  Agr eed.

DAVI D MARCUS: -- and woul d represent the far
end of the curve.

The average nmarkup on a dynam cal ly-priced

ticket is probably 1x -- one -- two -- sorry --
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100 percent, average. Right?

And so we're not talking about 10x.

And there's no situation where shows sell out
and then tickets get dunped in.

Again, we're -- we're in the business of
mat chi ng supply and demand.

And the goal is to serve everybody who is at
the front door, because once they conme to the front
door, if they don't find what they want, they go to
sonebody el se's narket pl ace.

It's an unbelievably conpetitive situation
we're in. And we're -- and we're conpeting --

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: But if you're --

Sorry, M. Marcus.

-- SO your suggestion there that, you know,
there's conpetition within -- in, let's say, the
pri mary market pl ace, and people could just sort of
go sonewhere else if they don't |ike, you know, what
they see within Ticketmaster, that's just -- | would
argue that's just sinply not true.

You know, you're the exclusive seller for,
you know, M.B, and all these, you know, major sports
or gani zati ons.

There is no other option.

Am | wong?
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DAVI D MARCUS: If you're a consuner, there
are -- there are dozens of other options. Every
ot her market --

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: I n the secondary
mar ket pl ace; correct?

DAVID MARCUS: ~-- froma consuner's
per spective --

SENATOR SKOUFI'S:  Ri ght.

DAVID MARCUS: -- if we don't offer them
sonmething that they're going to -- that they want
buy, they'll go buy it from sonebody el se.

And there are plenty of brokers out there who
are willing to play that arbitrage gane.

So our job is not to hold back tickets or
make it hard.

Qur job is to serve our clients, and help
them sell as many of their tickets as we can agai nst
t he demand that they've paid to drive to this
mar ket pl ace.

So | just -- | would just caution that all of
t he suspicion that sonehow we're mani pul ati ng fans,
there just -- it's just too hard to sell tickets.

And everybody wants to tal k about the shows
that sell out in mnutes.

They are few and far between.
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They're the sexy ones, they're the exciting
ones, but they are rare.

And our job is not to nmake it hard; it's to
make it easy.

W want to be the place consuners conme to buy
tickets. W don't want themto go to other
mar ket pl aces.

That's the conpetition we're in.

So nmaki ng that experience sinple, engaging,
fulfilling, the last thing we want is sonebody to
conme and see no tickets found. O see tickets
(si mul taneous speakers; indiscernible) --

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: Can | ask about, so a few
years ago, we prohibited bots. You know, these
automated tools that allow sonme individuals to
gobbl e up huge anounts of tickets automatically.

And, you know, it's a m sdenmeanor currently
in New York State | aw.

My understanding is that next to no
prosecuti ons have happened under this statute.

My question to you:

You spoke earlier that, understandably,
you're not able to police other sellers, but
| suspect that, you know, you should be able to

police yoursel ves.
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Have you nmade any referrals to the New York
State Attorney General under this bot provision in
New York State |aw?

DAVI D MARCUS: W -- we spend an inordinate
anount of tinme and noney defendi ng our site against
bots; working with third parties, building our own
sof tware, using our new snart-key platform and
having teanms in real-tinme at every on-sale, trying
to identify bot traffic and defend against it.

When the New York Attorney Ceneral has asked
us for information in the past, we have provided it.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: Do you provide it wthout
her aski ng?

DAVID MARCUS: You know, | am-- | am-- we
are -- we are always engaged with | aw enf or cenent
that's interested in supporting bot prosecutions.

SENATOR SKOUFI S:  Ckay.

|"mnot sure -- if | could just ask the nore
di rect question: You know, have you, unpronpted by
the attorney general reaching out, okay, you know,
"Have you had bot activity?" have you referred cases
of bot activity to New York State prosecutors?

DAVID MARCUS: | don't know whet her we have
done it unpronpted, so | would have to get back to

you on that.
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SENATOR SKOUFI'S:  Ckay. Thank you.

That's all | have.

| don't see any other hands.

Are there any other senators who -- oh,
Senat or Pal unbo, go ahead.

SENATOR PALUVMBO:  Thank you, Chairnman.

And | just have a few quick questions,
M. Marcus.
So as far as -- | guess 2019 was the last --

the last real point of reference that we can use
that was a fairly nornal year -- right? -- as far as
ticket sal es?

DAVI D MARCUS:  Yes.

SENATCR PALUMBO I n 2019, | nean, there's
been a | ot of discussion about these holds.

What's -- what was the percentage of hol ds
for, say, for exanple, your top five events in 2019?

Li ke, how rmuch did you hold for those tickets
that weren't sold, say, on the first day?

Do you understand that question? Does that
make sense?

DAVI D MARCUS: | understand the questi on.

It reference a practice that doesn't exist.

So Ticketmaster doesn't hold tickets at all.

Event organi zers hold tickets.
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The tickets that they hold are for uses that
are non-conmmercial ; again, production fitting in the
bui l di ng. The bands' nom wants to come to the show.
Press. Record conpanies. The people who need to be
at the show, who are part of the artist's career,
and part of the event.

That nunber across -- | don't know what the
top -- | can't tell you what the top five were in
2019, but it's sonme 5 percent.

Sonetines it's nore in New York and L. A than
it is in other places because, that's where the
industry is; that's where the PR people, the
magazi nes, the television shows, are.

But it is -- but it is a single-digit
percentage of the tickets.

Agai n, the cost of, you know, planning a show
at Madi son Square Garden is extraordinarily high

The goal is to sell the tickets, to pay for
the cost of putting on a showthere; it's not to
hol d tickets back.

SENATOR PALUMBO  Ckay.

And so -- and so -- just so I'mclear: Those
tickets are held by, in that exanple, Madison Square
Garden; they're not held by Ticketnaster? You don't

keep them - -
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DAVID MARCUS: W do not hold tickets.

W do not decide on holds. W don't -- we
gi ve event organizers the ability.

And it's the artist, the concert pronoter/the
event pronoter, and the building, are the event
organi zers. |In the case of sports, it's the team

They deci de what their needs are to serve
their VIPs in their industry.

And we just give themthe tools to allow them
to make that decision.

SENATOR PALUMBO. | see.

Ckay. So other than -- other than
Ti cket master -- obviously, you have a very | arge
mar ket share.

You said there are other places or other
br okers where people can get tickets.

Can they get themdirectly fromthe venue,
wi t hout service fees, for face val ue?

I s that avail abl e?

DAVI D MARCUS: Yeah, typically box offices
sell tickets w thout service fees.

SENATOR PALUMBO  Ckay.

Very good.

Thank you, M. Marcus.

DAVI D MARCUS: Thank you.
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SENATOR SKQOUFI'S:  Thank you.

Senat or Martucci .

SENATCR MARTUCCI :  Thanks, Chairman.

Thank you, M. Mrcus, for your testinony.

| just had one question, and, really, it's
nore related to the COVID 19 pandem ¢, and
specifically, refund policies, than it is kind of
t he broader discussion that we're having.

Who sets the refund policies with respect to
events that m ght be reschedul ed, or del ayed,
especi ally now because of pandem c-rel ated issues?

DAVI D MARCUS: Refund policies is simlar to
hol ds. All these decisions are made by the event
or gani zer.

When the pandemic hit, and the scale of the
refunds becane cl ear, you know, our conpany worked
very closely with all of the big live-event
pronoters, and Live Nation Entertainment in
particular, took a | eadership role in getting al
t he bi g-event pronoters and event organi zers to cone
up with consistent, coherent policies that fans
could rely on.

We knew we coul dn't have one-offs, depending
on the event or the venue; and we were successful in

t hat .
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And in an incredibly short period of tine, we
not only cane up with policies that were clear, but
we at Ticketmaster, basically, built our machine to
run backwards. Right?

It's not a machine that's built to refund
$3 billion worth of tickets.

And it was an extraordinary effort. And the
nunber-one priority was -- were fans.

We knew people were hurting. W knew t hat
the industry wasn't going to come back quickly.

That we had to give everybody, who had their noney
tied up in a ticket, a real opportunity to get that
noney back if their event wasn't going to take place
for another year.

And if an event was cancel ed, no hassles, no
action required, imediate refund.

SENATOR MARTUCCI: Al right. Thank you,

M. Marcus.

Yeah, | nean, | ook, mnmy concern really
surrounds this idea that, certainly, if an event is
cancel ed, there's a necessary refund.

But, certainly, if an event is reschedul ed,
you know, one of our primary concerns is making sure
that there are consumer protections, that allow

fol ks who bought a ticket for a specific event at a
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date and a tinme, who m ght not be able to use that
ticket, to exercise that option.

So, thank you for your testinony.

Thank you, Chairman.

SENATOR SKQOUFI' S:  Thank you.

SENATOR GAUGHRAN:. We agr ee.

SENATOR SKQOUFI' S:  Thank you.

Senat or Rei chl i n- Mel ni ck.

And t hen, Senator Gaughran.

SENATOR REI CHLI N- MELNI CK:  Sure. Thank you.

And thank you, M. Marcus, for your
testinony today.

Just wanted to foll ow up on a coupl e of
i ssues.

You had nentioned, and | think early on,
maybe i n your opening statenent, that 40 percent of
tickets, on average, are unsold.

And can you clarify how that breaks down --
if that was the right nunber, first of all, and how
t hat breaks down, because I'msure there's a |ot of
smal | er productions, other areas?

Is that the case in New York that 40 percent
are unsol d?

And when you're | ooking at some of the

hi gher-profile events, I"'msure it's much fewer than
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that that don't get sold.

DAVI D MARCUS: Yeah, that's an industry
average across live entertainment. Right? That's
sports and theater and concerts.

And, you know, Senator Kam nsky started the
data, asking about Bruce Springsteen tickets.

Bruce Springsteen doesn't have a probl em
selling his tickets.

But there are lots and lots of artists that
have that problem So sone artists don't sel
50 percent of their tickets.

Sonme -- sone -- sonetines the Mets aren't so
great -- right? -- and they don't sell all of their
tickets.

So that was an industry average.

SENATOR REI CHLI N- MELNI CK: | guess | just
wonder how you saw that nunber is; if it's |unping
t oget her, you know, Super Bow tickets, with
Bruce Springsteen, with the Omha Synphony, wth,
you know, the Binghanton Mets, or anything like
t hat .

You know, what do we really |earn when we're
| unpi ng together so nany different sports,
entertainment, all across the country, to try to

make a point there?
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DAVID MARCUS: | don't -- I'mnot sure | know
how t o answer that question.

| guess the point | -- 1 think -- | think
| was offering that stat to nake a point, that --
that there are a small nunber of events that sel
out instantly. And that it is hard to sell tickets;
it is expensive to find fans.

Mar keti ng for shows is expensive in an
i ndustry that has really low profit margins to begin
with. | nmean, the concert pronotion industry is a
single-digit margin business. So, you know, there's
not a lot of free cash to go and find new fans.

And so the argunents that the secondary
pl ayers are throwi ng up here, that suggest that
we' re sonehow nefariously naking it hard to buy
tickets, just flies in the face of the business
reality of the market that we operate in. Right?

It is about -- you know, there's a
wor | d-renown concert pronoter who said, "There's
just one rule in concert ticketing: Mnmentum™

Ri ght ?

Once you | ose the nmonmentum you're dead.

And, you know, this is -- this guy is one of
the greats.

And that's a | esson that we take every single
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day, when we think about how we're going to make
tickets available to fans, is: How do we nmake sure
t hat everybody who wants a ticket gets one?

Because once you | ose that nmonentum it's
real ly expensive to go get those people back

SENATOR REI CHLI N- MELNI CK: | appreciate that.

And, again, | just would suggest that, going
forward, it's probably a nore useful way to try to
| ook at this, both fromour commttee's perspective
and fromthe industry, to try to break that out a
little nore between what we're dealing with, and
whether it's, you know, venues that are in demand,
or events that have trouble selling tickets.

And |'"msure, in both sports and live
theater, there are nmany venues, and nany events,
that do have issues selling all the tickets.

But, of course, | think what we're seeing
t hese | arge markups on are -- are the
Bruce Springsteens of the world, or the Yankees, or
the Jets, or any of the larger-profile events.

And | think that's where a |l ot of the concern
cones from

SENATOR SKOUFI' S:  Thank you, Senator.

SENATOR REI CHLI N-MELNICK:  And so | think --

no -- has ny tinme expired?
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Sorry.
SENATOR SKOUFI'S:  No, no. Go ahead.
| thought you were done.

SENATOR REI CHLI N- MELNI CK:  So -- yeah, so ny

one ot her question, | just want to kind to dril
down, | know we've tal ked about this:
You know, we understand, | understand, the

Attorney Ceneral of the State of New York did a
study, and they did find that the majority of
tickets for at |east the nost popul ar performance
events weren't made avail able to the general public.

And | know that you're saying that just isn't
right.

It's, just, I'mstruggling to know what to
make of the fact that we've got the attorney general
on one side who's saying sonething, and you're just
saying that they -- they sinply didn't do their job
right, or they didn't understand the issue?

What's your response to the report fromthe
attorney general's office?

DAVID MARCUS: Was this the Schnei der man
report froma few years ago --

SENATOR REI CHLI N- MELNI CK:  Yes --

DAVI D MARCUS: -- that you're referencing?

SENATOR REI CHLI N- MELNICK:  -- it is.




© 00 ~N oo o b~ w N P

N NN N NN P R PR R R R R R R
gag A W N P O © 0o N oo 0o M W N -+ O

56

DAVI D MARCUS: M recollection of that -- and
| have not read that report recently -- ny
recoll ection was that that report pointed to a
coupl e of shows, | think one of them was
Justin Bieber, where there were a significant anount
of tick -- at Madi son Square Garden, where there
were a significant amount of tickets held back for
VI Ps.

| -- that -- as | noted, that is a -- that is
an extreme exanpl e.

And we' ve | ooked at this data, we've | ooked
at it carefully, for situations just like this.

The percentage of tickets that are held for
the events that we sell tickets for is
sub-5 percent.

New Yor k (simultaneous speakers;
i ndi scernible) --

SENATOR REI CHLI N-MELNICK:  Is there
(si mul taneous speakers; indiscernible) --

DAVI D MARCUS: -- go ahead.

SENATOR REI CHLIN-MELNICK: -- no. |I'msorry.
The connection's a little bit laggy on ny end.

Is there a way that that data could be shared
with this commttee?

DAVI D MARCUS: | presune it could be.
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"1l have to get back to you on that, yeah.

SENATOR REI CHLI N- MELNI CK:  Ckay.

Thanks.

That's all |'ve got.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: G eat.

We'll follow up on that request.

Senat or Gaughr an.

SENATOR GAUGHRAN:  Thank you, M. Chairman.

Thank you, M. Marcus.

And | will try not to conment on and respond
to your recent conment about the New York Mets,
and - -

[ Laught er. ]

SENATOR GAUGHRAN: -- and their perfornmance
sonetinmes leading to the inability to market sone of
the tickets.

But other than that, just follow ng up
Senator Martucci touched a little bit on the COVID
i ssues.

You know, and we see now that, that with sone
events we now have in New York, the requirenent that
peopl e show proof of vaccination or proof of a
negative COVID test.

And ny guess is, as we nove into the sunmer

for, you know, all sorts of events across the
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spectrum and venues, that just may be sonething that
wi |l becone comonpl ace.

What efforts are you nmaking to make sure that
you are clearly providing to your custoners the
knowl edge of that, so that they understand, when
t hey show up at an event, you know, they -- they --
and they're not vaccinated, and they don't have, you
know, proof of a recent test, that they nay have a
pr obl enf

And, also, is there a refund policy in place
in the event sonmebody shows up and cannot gain
entry?

DAVI D MARCUS: Yeah, that's a great question
Thank you.

We have instituted what we call "health-check
i nformation."

So for events where there are these
requirenents, in addition to having a ticket, you
al so need proof of either a negative test or
vacci nati on.

There is information that we present to the
consuner before they even enter the ticket-buying
process: This -- here is what the requirenents are
for attending this event.

That information follows themthrough the
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purchase journey. |It's presented with their ticket.

And there is a refund policy, typically, that
t he event organi zer provides, to the extent that the
health credentials that are presented by the fan
don't allow themto enter; don't qualify.

SENATOR GAUGHRAN: But is this information
that they affirmatively have to check a box to nake
clear that they read it?

DAVI D MARCUS: Yeah. W call it "Accept and
Continue" -- right? -- to get to the next step
(si mul taneous speakers; indiscernible) --

SENATOR GAUGHRAN:  ( Si nul t aneous speakers;

i ndi scernible) -- | understand --

Al right. Thank you so much

SENATOR SKOUFI'S:  Thank you,
Senat or Gaughr an.

| just want to follow up with a question,
pursuant to what Senator Reichlin-Melnick was asking
you about .

And so understanding that, you know, the
Justin Bieber concert is not the norm R ght?

And you' ve tal ked about, you know, these
unsold tickets at, you know, nmany, nmany events that
t ake pl ace.

But understandi ng that that does happen,
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where you have a very hot concert, or -- or, you
know, "Ham |ton" on Broadway, whatever it nay be,
and that those exist, do you think that there ought
to be sone limt -- statutory limt on hol dbacks?

| nmean, you know, even if it just happens a
couple times a year, or a fewtines a year, at the
hottest concerts, do you think that in -- you know,
on behal f of your custoners who are | ooking to get
into these venues, do you think there should be sone
[imt on hol dbacks?

DAVI D MARCUS: No. | think event organizers
shoul d be able to run their business the way they
see fit.

| think that nobody knows their fans better
than the artist.

These -- these venues are staples in their
communities and in their markets.

And | think they need to nmake the deci sions
about how to run their business, as |long as they do
it in a way that doesn't defraud or injure or harm
t he public.

| f Justin Bieber believes that, when he's
| aunching his new tour and his new al bum he needs
toinvite his record conpany to the show, to thank

them for their work, that should be his decision
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It's his business, they're his tickets.

You know, our job is to make it -- is to
enpower the artist community, the event-organi zer
community, to effectively run their businesses the
way they see fit.

And | think, as we start legislating
deci si ons about, you know, how to take care of your
constituents, | think you run into all kinds of
probl ens.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: Can you understand that the
average fan may be frustrated to | earn, you know,
who is desperate and dying to get into one of these
concerts, that, after the fact, half of the tickets
that they thought were available, actually went to
friends and famlies of artists, and pronoters,
et cetera?

Do you synpathize with those fans?

DAVI D MARCUS: Tickets are scarce. Right?
It's -- it's the -- there's only so many tickets in
any given venue.

And | synpathize with those fans every single
day, because we recogni ze that people are passionate
about nusic, they're passionate about sports,

t hey' re passionate about theater; and they want to

go.
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And when there are nore people that want to
go than there are tickets available, it's
frustrating, but we can't nake nore. Right?

The tickets are what the tickets are.

And these, as | noted, the goal of al nost
every single artist, for every single event, is,

"I want ny fans there."

This is how they nake their noney, it's how
t hey make their Iiving.

The live-event industry is what drives
artists' livelihoods.

It's not fromstreanming. |It's not from
selling T-shirts.

Those are inportant, but it's |ive.

And t hat noney cones fromselling tickets.

So | am synpathetic to the fans.

|"'ma music fan. There's |lots of shows that
| want to go to, that | don't get to go to.

So | recognize that -- that frustration

But it is not because we don't want fans
there. It is not because Justin Bieber doesn't want
his fans there.

Quite the opposite.

Hi s success is 100 percent due to the fact

that he tours, and makes ticket available to fans,
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and he wants themin the building.

SENATOR SKOUFI S:  Ckay.

"' m done with my questions.

Seei ng no other hands up, | want to thank
you, M. Marcus. You've provided a | ot of
i nsi ght .

And we appreciate you -- your attendance, and

your answering our questions.

And we do have a couple foll owups, | think
over the course of this Q%A that we'll reach out to
you about .

But, otherw se, again, thank you for being
here, and [inaudi bl e renote audi o. ]

DAVI D MARCUS: Thank you, all.

Appr eci ate the questions.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S:  Yep. Thank you.

Qur second panel, that I'll introduce now, we
have a few w t nesses:

First, we have the general manager of the
Ti mes Union Center, Bob Bel ber;

We have from The Broadway League, Tom -- and
| apol ogize if I'm m spronounci ng your nane --
Ki rdahy, who is a producer with The Broadway League;

We have G | bert Hoover, vice president and

general counsel of The Shubert O gani zati on;
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And from Local 751 I. A T.S.E., Treasurers &
Ti ckets Sellers Union, we have Law ence Paone, who
is the president of the |ocal.

Wl corme, everybody.

| think -- correct ne if I"'mwong, | think
everybody wants to provide testinony.

If not, that's okay, but we'll start wth,
M. Bel ber, you want to go first?

BOB BELBER: Sure. Thank you.

Thank you very much

SENATOR SKOUFI' S:  Thank you.

BOB BELBER: So first I'd like to say that
the Tinmes Union Center, just to give you sone
background, is a 17,500-seat facility, very much
I i ke Madi son Square Garden

We call it the "Upstate New York prem er
sports and entertainment facility."

We' ve had about 600-pl us enpl oyees that have
not really worked since March of 2020.

We're very nuch | ooking forward to the
restarting of live entertai nment; sports, and
entertai nnment.

The ticketing industry is sonething that our
industry, and all of our careers, are centered upon.

And for the fans, it's something that we have
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a lot of, you know, sincere feelings, that they
shoul d get what they are paying for, that they
shoul d enjoy the events that they're putting their
hard noney out for, and that they should be able to
buy those tickets in a non-deceptive way.

And so one of the biggest concerns that
| have in nmy 27 years of being here, is the
third-party, or, secondary narket.

And where | focus ny concern, is for the
consuner that buys a ticket on the specul ating side,
where seats are put on sale by third-party brokers
on a website, that the seat may not even exi st.

And in sonme cases we've had tickets that have
been sol d on secondary-market sites for nmjor
events.

You know, whether it's a Paul MCartney or
El ton John or sone other major artist, where they
show up at the building with a ticket for a section
seat and seat nunber that was purchased through a
secondary market, that doesn't even relate to a seat
that exists in the building.

So those kinds of deceptive practices |'m
very, very concerned about.

As it relates to the actual websites where

t he secondary markets are selling tickets, that's
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anot her big concern of m ne.

And | say this really on behal f of our
facility, but I'msure other facilities in the state
are having the same problens, in that the
secondary-nmarket sites are using our |ogos, they're
usi ng our phot ographs of the buildings, they're
usi ng our seat |ocations and seat maps in the
bui | di ngs, w thout authorization, and nmaking it | ook
as though -- for a consuner that's going on their
site, as though there are -- they are the official
site for the venue; and they are not.

And so, our site, we do have "official" on
it. W play the chess gane of trying to get ours on
the top of the list so that people can get to it
first. And it becones a noney ganme for -- you know,
for the Internet, as far as who's paying nore to be
dom nant in the space.

But from an enforcenment standpoint, it's
al nost inpossible for us, or for Ticketrmaster, to be
able to enforce people that are using, wthout
aut hori zation, our assets; our name and |ikeness.

And so, if there's one thing that I would
|l ove to see fromthe State side, and perhaps from
the attorney general's side, is to crackdown on

websites that are using photographs, |ogos that are
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trademar ked, that are deceptive, and nake the
consuner feel as though they're on the official
site, when they're not.

SENATOR SKOUFI' S:  Thank you, M. Bel ber.

And | do want to acknow edge your
partici pation here.

We invited a nunber of the very mmjor
downst at e venues to this hearing.

They chose not to participate, unfortunately.

And so your insight is really valued here
t oday.

Thank you for being here.

BOB BELBER:  Sure.

SENATOR SKOUFI S:  Broadway League, you want
to go next?

TOM KI RDAHY:  Sur e.

My name is Tom Ki rdahy.

I|"'ma Tony and A ivier award-w nning

i ndependent producer, with credits including

"Hadestown, " "Tina," "Anaestasia," "Ragtine,"
"The Inheritance,"” and "Frankie and Johnny in the
Claire de Lune" on Broadway.

|'malso the former chair of the
Br oadway League, Government Rel ations Committee.

And | participated in many of the conversations that
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led to Senate Bill 8501B being signed into law into
l'ive 2018.

| thank Chairs Skoufis and Kaplan, as well as
t he di stingui shed nmenbers of the commttees on
| nvesti gati ons and Governnment QOperations, and of
Commer ce, Econom c Devel opnent, and Smal | Busi ness,
for this opportunity to speak this norning.

I"d first like to provide sone background.

In 2019, Touring Broadway perforned in over
200 cities, welconmed 17.5 mllion theater-goers, and
had an econom c inpact of approxinmately $20 billion
on the United States.

In New York City, Broadway wel coned
14.8 mllion adm ssions, and provi ded al nost
100, 000 full-time-equival ent jobs.

Due to COVID 19, the industry has conme to a
screeching halt, resulting in an historic financial
har dshi p.

The U. S. |oses approximately $1.4 billion in
econonic activity every nonth Broadway is closed.

Broadway' s nobst successful productions have
| ong been targets of scal pers.

In 2018, when Assenbl yman O Donnel |
Senat or Murphy, and Governor Cuonp decided to revise

the state's ticketing law, our nmenbers felt it was
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i mportant to address our ven -- to issues our venues
had found the nost chall engi ng.

Patrons would often arrive at theaters,
decei ved about their seat |ocations, the face val ue
of their -- and the face value of their tickets,
| eavi ng venue staff to sort the confusion.

| witnessed this firsthand on nany, many
occasions at my own productions.

We were satisfied, overall, with 8501B s
di scl osures on pricing, spec ticketing, refunds,
relationship with the productions and surchar ges,
and prohibitions agai nst deceptive URLs.

We believe these changes went a | ong way
t owards protecting consuners, artists, and venues.

However, current |aw has only been effective
since | ate Decenber 2018, and the industry has
remai ned shuttered since March of 2020.

Wt hout a significant period of effectiveness
to exam ne the inpact of this litigation -- this
litigation may have -- this |legislation nmay have had
on the industry, it would be difficult to discuss
t he amendment s.

Further, as noted earlier, we are in a
crisis.

When shows can restart, we cannot sinply turn
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the lights on and open the doors.

We need to fund rehearsals for casts who have
not performed in over a year, recast performers who
have | eft New York or found other work, refurbish
physi cal sets, and prepare venues for safe return of
audi ences.

We are working with | awrakers and heal th-care
experts to raise our curtains, put crews back to
work, and help revitalize the state's econony.

We are sinply not equipped to inplenent new
regul ati ons governing ticketed distribution at this
time.

The Broadway League therefore suggests
extending the current |law for two years.

W're optimstic that, by 2023, our

productions will have resunmed at full capacity, and
we'll be in a better position to discuss what
amendnments will be in the best interests of

t heat er - goers.
Thank you for your tine this norning.
SENATOR SKOUFI' S:  Thank you for your
t esti nony.
Shubert Organi zation?
G LBERT HOOVER: Thank you, Senator Skoufi s,

and Senator Kaplan, distinguished conmittee nenbers.
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Good nor ni ng.

|'"'m G | bert Hoover, vice president and
general counsel of The Shubert O gani zati on.

| thank you for allowing me to participate in
this hearing.

By way of background:

Shubert operates 17 Broadway venues, mnaking
it the | argest Broadway venue operator.

I n addition, Shubert operates Tel echarge, a
| eadi ng provider of ticketing services of Broadway
and of f- Broadway shows and ot her events across the
country.

We share the conmittees' interest in ensuring
that live-event ticket sales across New York State
are fair and equitable for all parties, especially
our patrons.

For the reasons that | will explain, we
believe that the current |aw which will sunset on
July 3rd of this year should be extended for another
t wo-year period w thout any further anendnents.

| amjoined in this position by the
Neder | ander and Juj antyn organi zati ons whi ch,
col l ectively, own and operate 14 ot her Broadway
venues.

Because of COVID, Broadway is enduring the
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| ongest closure in its history.

You' ve heard fromthe previous panels of the
enornmous financial inpact on our industry.

W were anongst the first businesses to
close, and the last to reopen, in accordance with
the New York State nandate and applicable |aw.

Commenci ng on the evening of March 12, 2020,
over a year ago, all Broadway venues were shuttered
by executive order.

Wil e the Governor recently announced
gui delines to all ow Broadway venues to reopen at
severely limted capacity, we are still waiting for
t he day when we will be wel com ng our audi ences
under somet hi ng approachi ng nornal circunstances,
and full, or close to full, house that are needed
for our industry to survive.

Now is sinply not the tine to anend the
current ticketing | aw.

Both |ive-event venues and |ive-event
ticketing industry are in tine of great dislocation
of peopl e.

Qur focus is on doing what is necessary to
ensure our survival, and to restart Broadway's
econoni ¢ engine, an engine that is essential to the

econoni ¢ recovery of New York City, including the
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repopul ation and revitalization of Times Square, and
the return of tourismto the city.

And as you've heard --

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: If you could --

G LBERT HOOVER:  Oh?

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: -- go ahead. |'msorry.

G LBERT HOOVER: -- as in three years ago,
the ticketing | aw was anended in significant
respects.

Many of these changes are for the better;
however, | do not believing that there has been
sufficient time to evaluate the long-term
effectiveness of these nethods.

This is especially so, given the fact that
the live-event industry has been largely shut down.
And for our industry, the venues of Broadway shows
entirely shut down since for over 13 nonths.

We shoul d give these neasures nore tine, we
shoul d give ourselves nore tinme, to evaluate the
i npact of these neasures on our industry.

In short, we don't believe that changes to
the current law are warranted at this tine.

Thank you.

SENATOR SKOUFI' S:  Thank you very much

And | ast, but certainly not |east, Local 751.
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LAWRENCE PAONE: Thank you.

Senator -- Senate Chairs Skoufis and Kapl an,
and di stingui shed nmenbers of the Senate committees,
| am Law ence Paone, president of the Treasurers &
Ticket Sellers Union, Local 751 |I.AT.S. E

| am here today to provide testinony on
behal f of the 500 box office workers and venues
t hroughout New York City.

Local 751, chartered in 1941, represents
wor kers in over 60 venues, including the
Met ropol i tan Opera; Broadway theaters; and arenas,
such as Madi son Square Garden and Barcl ays.

Qur industry has been devastated due to the
COVI D-19 pandemic, with the majority of our nenbers
unable to work due to the closure of theaters and
ot her venues.

Many of our nenbers have suffered financially
during the pandem c, struggling to make ends neet.

And for the support of Al bany, we are
grateful. W applaud your work on the COBRA subsi dy
f undi ng.

| amhere to testify in regard to the current
state of the secondary market for tickets.

In an average year, mllions of dollars in

tickets are sold for live events through the
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secondary market .

Local 751 is not opposed to the existence of
t he secondary market.

The goal of every Local 751-represented
enpl oyee is to provide world-class customer service
to theater-goers while nmaxim zing sales for our
enpl oyers.

Part of our job responsibilities, and what we
pride ourselves on, is to provide personalized
cust oner service, solve ticketing problens, and
ensure that everyone has a good experience and
enj oys the show regardl ess of where a custoner
purchased their tickets.

Based on Local 751's experiences, we see both
t he positive and negative aspects of the secondary
mar ket at the box office w ndow

Many customers have a good experience with
t he secondary market, and are happy when they get to
see a hit show, even when they know they paid an
above-market price to secure a ticket.

On the other hand, other custoners are
extrenely upset to discover that they overpaid for
their tickets.

To that end, it is inportant that there is

full transparency in the secondary market so that




© 00 ~N oo o b~ w N P

N NN N NN P R PR R R R R R R
gag A W N P O © 0o N oo 0o M W N -+ O

76

al |l custonmers understand beforehand, both the base
cost of a ticket and the additional costs added by
the reseller, and can thus make an informed purchase
deci si on.

In addition, customers sonmetinmes unwittingly
purchase from fraudul ent tickets -- they purchase
fraudul ent tickets from bad sources because it is
difficult to tell which online sources are
legitimate versus illegitimate.

IIlegitinate resellers sonmetinmes resell the
same ticket over and over again, making it very
difficult for the box office to determ ne ownership
so that customers may enter the theater.

The box office staff does everything inits
power to assist the custoners in these situations,
such as attenpting to verify ownership through the
various nethods in our ticketing systens; selling
t he customer new seats that accommodate the w shes,
when possible; and in the case of fraud, pointing
the customer in the direction of |aw enforcemnent.

Qur workers can only mtigate the fallout.
We al one cannot prevent the fraud.

When reform ng the secondary market, we
recommend you strengthen protections against

deceptive and fraudul ent practices, to push bad
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actors out of the secondary market.

Thank you for the opportunity to appear on
t he behal f of the nmenbers of the Treasurers & Ticket
Sel l ers Union, Local 751.

And we hope to be a resource as you del ve
into the reform ng the secondary narket.

And | ook forward to answering any questions
you nay have.

SENATOR SKOUFI' S:  Thanks very much for your
bei ng here, and your inportant testinony.

|"11 open up questions.

"1l start with M. Bel ber, please.

Can you speak a little bit about what your
true options are as a venue when it cones to
ticketing?

So you have Ti cket nmaster.

Do you have any other options, really?

BOB BELBER:  No.

W have an exclusive contract with
Ticketmaster. And | will say that we have been very
happy with Ticket master over the years.

And | think their secondary platformthat
they have is the one platform and |I'm not saying
t hat everyone el se is bad, but, you can get a

guaranteed seat, and you will always get a
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guaranteed seat, that's a good seat, in the
secondary market on Ticketrmaster, as conpared to, as
Lawr ence brought up just a few m nutes ago, there
are sonme deceptive websites out there, and ticket
brokers, that often will sell tickets that are
not -- either non-existent or duplicative sales.

SENATOR SKOUFI S:  Right.

And if we can speak a little bit about what
we heard from Ti cket master, you know, they --

| hope I'"mnot mscharacterizing this. [|'m
sure they would argue that | am

-- but, they sort of threw the venues under
the bus a little bit, when | asked about these
service charges that are associated with purchasing
tickets through their platform

And, you know, they basically said, well,
that's -- those are the nunbers that the venues, the
event organi zers, come up with

Can you speak a little bit about that
arrangenent; how those service charges are devel oped
wi th Ticket master?

Are they in the contract?

Wt hout speaking to the specifics of your
contract, of course, but, you know, is that

sonmething that is covered in the contract?
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And, again, you know, how are those -- if you
coul d speak to how those fees are split?

Can you talk to that issue a little bit?

BOB BELBER So -- so event -- event
producers are all -- there's different types of
arrangenents with all kinds of different pronoters
and event producers.

And there are sonetines splits of service
charges, and -- and sonetinmes there aren't,
depending on the type of event, pronoter, sports,
et cetera.

Ti cket mast er does have a base service charge
in the agreenent that we have. And the setting of
t hose service charges, generally, is agreed upon
bet ween the pronoter and the venue, and in
conjunction with Ticketnaster.

But a lot of tines it relates to a conpari son
of what the service charges are in other |ike
markets and other like facilities; and, therefore,
it's not sonething that this facility, for exanpl e,
woul d set w thout doubl e-checking to see what the
pronoter nay see as service charges in other like
venues.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S:  Ckay. Very good.

Thank you.
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And ny | ast question for you, sir:

It's nmy understanding that -- that the
Ti mes Union Center has chosen not to engage with --
directly deal with brokers.

If that's the case, can you tal k about how
you cane to that decision?

BOB BELBER: Well, that's been our policy
since |'ve been here, 27 years now. W don't -- we
just don't have any arrangenents directly with
third-party platforns or secondary-market ticket
sel l ers.

It's just the choice that we've nade.

W feel confortable with Ticketmaster. W're
confortable with their secondary market.

| f somet hing happens with an artist or a
pronoter that mght relate to a third-party broker
that we're not aware of, we just don't have that
know edge.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: Do you have a sense of
whet her that policy is, nore or |ess, the norm anong
venues, or are you nore the exception to the rule?

BOB BELBER: | think that's pretty nuch the
nor m

There are always going to be artists that are

going to have fan clubs that they will want to have
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a certain very small nunber of tickets that woul d be
avai l able for either presale or fan club sales. And
those will go out to a secondary source, or
platform sonetines. But it's never nore than 5 to
10 percent.

But none of the buildings, that |I'm aware of,
and | certainly know a |lot of other facility
executives, none of them that | know of, have
direct relationships with secondary brokers.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S:  Very good.

Thank you.

|'"d like to turn to The Broadway League, and
to the extent that you'd Iike to answer, any of the
ot her paneli sts.

It's -- you know, you nentioned a numnber of
times the 2018 amendnents that were nmade to the
state's ticketing | aws.

One of those amendnents had to deal with --
or, dealt with "white-label resale sites,” as
they're called; these deceptive websites that exist.

And it's ny understanding that, you know,
per haps, while, you know, there has been an
i mprovenent in this area, it has really not closed
down this cottage industry of deception.

One such exanple that I'maware of is --
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is -- is Broad -- | think it's Broadway.com

s that right?

Are you famliar with that site?

It's nmy understanding that -- that they make
up -- or, you know, based on sone data that |'ve
seen, they made up between 15 and 17 percent of the
vol une and val ue of tickets sold at Broadway shows
over the course of 2018 and ' 19.

Br oadway. com has no affiliation, official
affiliation whatsoever, w th any Broadway
st akehol ders.

And at the sites, it's common for custoners
to pay handling, shipping, service fees, in the
range of 25 to 50 percent on these tickets.

Do you -- do you think that -- that this
remai ns a significant problemw thin your industry?

Do you believe that we ought to be doing nore
to close down sites, |ike Broadway.com that are
deceiving unwi tting custoners?

Can you speak to this issue a little bit?

TOM KI RDAHY: | -- | can try.

The bi gger problem frankly, is --
Broadway.comis a credible site. | can't think of
an i nstance where a patron has shown up, where they

wer e decei ved about their seat or the face val ue of




© 00 ~N oo o b~ w N P

N NN N NN P R PR R R R R R R
gag A W N P O © 0o N oo 0o M W N -+ O

83

their ticket or the legitimcy of their ticket.

There are other sites that | can't nane,
that -- because | honestly just don't have it off
the top of ny head, that, with great frequency,
especially on hit shows, people will arrive at a
t heater, when | was producing "Anastasia," we often
had people showing up with fraudulent tickets that
t hey purchased on -- through deceptive URL sites.
And they had arrived, thinking they had third-row
seats. And either had a seat in the back row, or it
wasn't a legitinate seat at all

So | think that enforcenment is a very serious
i ssue.

My -- I'"'ma recovering lawer, and | wll
share with you sonet hing deeply personal and
intimate.

My husband was the great Anerican playwi ght
Terrence McNally, who died from COVID on March 24th
of | ast year.

When | was involved in | obbying about this
i ssue years ago, one of the things that | noted to
anyone who would listen, is that artists | ose out
when, on the secondary market, tickets are sold at
these great -- at these astronom cal prices, because

the artists aren't receiving the royalties on those
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mar kups.

So the -- | do have a firmbelief that the --
sort of what we are | ooking at today bears scrutiny.
And the secondary market is really sonething that
needs to be addressed.

My personal concern is about the "when."

And, also, | don't believe we've |earned
enough, because that |egislation is so new, about
what the real pitfalls are.

|"ma very hands-on producer.

| show up at the theater five nights a week,
and | watch what happens for the patron experience
because it's so inmportant to our |ong-term health.

And so it's hard to answer that question, but
| will tell you that there are bogus sites out there
that are really ripping people off in a way that
does need | ong-term addressi ng.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: | would like to follow up
with one last point, then. | know ny tinme has
expired, but while we're on this subject:

So | don't think there's any suggestion that
Br oadway. comis, you know, selling fraudul ent
tickets.

| understand that there are over a thousand

conplaints that have been filed agai nst Broadway.com
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with the state attorney general and the FTC.

| think the concern is, with a nane |ike
Br oadway. com that custoners are just fundanentally
deceived into thinking that, you know, this is |ike
the official outlet of Broadway tickets.

So do you have, not concerns with the tickets
t hensel ves being real or fake through Broadway.com
but do you have any concern with just sort of the
fundanental, what | would characterize as, "deceit”
behi nd t he name/the URL, Broadway.con?

G LBERT HOOVER: | woul d be happy to try and
answer that, if | could, Senator Skoufis.

| nmean, | believe that Broadway.comis very
careful about how they present thenselves to the
public. And they are not operating in a deceptive
manner, or suggesting that they are sonehow
somet hi ng other than what they are, which is a
resale site for tickets.

And unli ke as Tom Ki rdahy had suggest ed,
there are a nunber of sites that engage in
specul ative ticketing, or are in violation of the --
you know, as you nentioned, the practice of sonehow
deceiving the custoner, and the nature of their
whi te-| abel site.

But | don't believe that that is the case
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wi t h Broadway.com

And | do think that enforcenment is a ngjor
issue in this area.

And | can tell you, in response to a question
that you had asked previously, that, at Tel echarge,
we have actually gone to the AGs office, to give
t hem i nstances where we have information about what
we believe to be people using bots, in an effort to
get enforcenent.

And | think that it's inportant that we al
try to make sure that we take action agai nst bad
actors in the industry.

SENATOR SKOUFI' S:  Thank you very much

And so, before | hand it off, | do want to
express, M. Kirdahy, nmy -- ny deepest condol ences
for your -- your |loss that you nentioned.

And t hanks again, both, to -- to your
answers.

If I may now turn it over to Senator Kaplan.

TOM Kl RDAHY:  Thank you

SENATOR KAPLAN: [l naudi bl e renote audi o] for
your testinony here today.

And this question is for anyone on the panel.

There was a significant discussion with the

| ast witness, M. Marcus, on the topic of holding
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back on certain percentage of ticketed sales to the
publi c.

Can you explain exactly how the decisions are
made by the event organizers as to what percentage
of tickets that were held back from general sales to
the public mght eventually be released for the
public sale, such that they're no | onger being held
for VIPs or friends or famly?

And a follow up: And when those tickets are
rel eased for sale to the general public, what, if
any, price changes are nade to those tickets, and
why?

Al so, how is the public nade aware of these
ti ckets that have becone avail abl e?

G LBERT HOOVER: | woul d be happy to try and
answer your question, Senator Kaplan.

In general --

SENATOR KAPLAN:.  Thank you.

G LBERT HOOVER: -- there are contractual
arrangenents between the venue operator and the
primary ticketing agent.

And that contract would, you know, provide,
just as Ticketmaster represented, that, you know
there's an agreenment as to house seats. And so the

contract will spell out the nunber of house seats.
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That's a formof "hold."

And we have supplied information, and with
respect to the earlier information request that were
requested, that is, shows that, 2019, the |ast year
we really had significant sales, house seats, and
any kind of hold, for the top five Broadway shows
that we sell, less than 5 percent -- | think
actually nmore, | think it may have been 7 percent.

So | really don't think that this is a
Broadway i ssue in ternms of holds.

And | think that, you know, other forns, if
you want to call them"holds,” if you're selling
tickets, say, for a Lincoln Center, a nonprofit
t heater, they m ght decide that they want to give
their subscription base first dibs, if you will, on
getting tickets.

In my mnd, that's not a negative. That's
sonmet hing that the venue operator shoul d have the
right to nake those kinds of decisions.

So | don't see this as, for the Broadway
i ndustry, where you have open-ended run, that hol ds
is really something that is a significant problem

And | don't see that disclosure of, you know,
or, you've got eight perfornmances a week,

40 Broadway venues, if you do the nunbers, it's just




© 00 ~N oo o b~ w N P

N NN N NN P R PR R R R R R R
gag A W N P O © 0o N oo 0o M W N -+ O

89

a massi ve anmount of data that would not, if you had
to disclose it on your site, | don't think would

i nform or change in any way a custoner-purchasi ng
habi t .

TOM Kl RDAHY:  Yeah, | would just --

SENATOR KAPLAN:.  Thank you.

TOM KI RDAHY: -- just, may | just piggyback
on that for a noment?

When we were di scussing 8501B a few years
ago, this issue cane up. And it seened that we had
| earned, and drawn distinctions between | arger
venues and the Broadway space and t he Broadway
nodel , where, say, the average house is
1,000 tickets.

The nunber of holds is -- on Broadway, is
sonewhat de mnims

It's certainly under 5 percent, and it's
usually tied to, if a star cones to Broadway, she or
he may have four house seats that they have to use
48 hours before -- before the perfornmance, or those
tickets get released at face val ue.

The difference, of course, is that, when we
come to Broadway, we hope to stay. So it's
ei ght shows a week, and, hopefully, for many years;

or, if it's alimted run for 16 or 20 weeks.
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It's not one night only, where there are --

where the hold process -- the hold process is very
different.
So there's -- it's slightly apples and

oranges on the subject of holds.

SENATOR KAPLAN. | appreciate it.

M. Bel ber, would you |ike to comment on
t his?

BOB BELBER  Yes.

| think you ve got two different issues here.

As you're calling it "holds,"” | really have
to agree with M. Marcus, that it's really not
per se hol ds.

And in the arena business, or at |east here
at our facility, it used to be where VIPs, fromthe
bui l di ng side, could hold a couple hundred tickets,
maybe 300 tickets, for a major concert.

That has gone away.

The building can't have those holds like it
used to years back. | nean, it's been several years
since we've been able to do that.

There are sone buildings that still hold out
and still try to do it as best they can.

But we don't hold tickets here for our VIPs.

They have to buy themjust |ike the consuner.
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But the other side of it, on the pricing, you
nment i oned sonet hi ng about, when does the price
change, and do the consuners know about it?

And there is a relatively new programthat is
out, that's called "variable pricing."

And I"'mnot sure if this inpacts the Broadway
side or not, but it's based on demand in the public,
and what the dermand or price could potentially be
set at, and it is -- it will be flexible. And it's
somewhat new. It's only in the |ast year, or year
and a half, that it's been out.

| do expect that's probably going to be
requested of us, to be able to allow pronoters,
whet her it's Live Nation or AEG and others, to use
vari abl e pricing.

So | think it's way too soon now to know what
that | ooks like, but | think that's definitely
com ng.

SENATOR KAPLAN:.  Thank you.

My next question is to M. Tom Kirdahy.

Again, | amvery sorry for your | oss.

You did tal k about Article 25, and the
extension that was granted in 2018, where there were
several significant changes made to the | aw,

i ncludi ng issues dealing with transparency
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requi renent, and specul ative ticketing, and
additional penalties for the use of prohibited
ticket bots.

And you did discuss that the tine frane that
this has been applied is a very short tine.

But | wanted to know, are there any quick
j udgnents you can share about how successful, or
unsuccessful, those changes have been?

TOM KI RDAHY:  It's a -- that's a -- it's a
great question, and my honest answer is, no, there
isn't a quick judgnent.

My -- my concern is that we can't diagnose
ef fecti veness without a commtment to enforcenent.

And | think that the events of the |ast
14 nmonths make it inpossible to be proper
di agnosticians to its effectiveness.

| certainly -- | -- ny hope and expectation
is that it's a wonderful step in the right
direction, but I think absent enforcement, it's
t oot hl ess.

SENATOR KAPLAN. | appreciate it.

This is for anyone el se:

Can you explain to me the various service
fees you charge per ticket or per order?

Is it really necessary?
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What is the difference between a service fee
or a conveni ence fee? Wy would you charge both on
a ticket?

And when a fam |y of four orders four
tickets, why nmust there be a fee be charged for each
of thenf

To me it seens these fees are just a way for
you to get consuners to pay for your online
ticketing system or the salary of your enployees.

G LBERT HOOVER: So | guess, as a primry
ticketer, 1'd be happy to answer that.

W use a consistent term nology. W have a
per-ticket service fee, and we have a separate order
[i ndi scerni ble] charge, and we do scale it.

| believe the current scale, if it's under
$50, it's $8.50 per-ticket service fee; and if it
goes at the high end, if it's $200 or over,
it's $15. And the per-order fee is $3.

| think you'll find that those fees conpare
very favorably to both the primary -- other primary
ticketers, and to the markups that are charged in
t he secondary narket.

And | would add that, Senator Skoufis, you
had nmenti oned about the "reasonabl e" requirenent.

And, actually, ny reading of that statute is
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that, that application is only to the primary
market. In the secondary market there is no cap on
what can be charged.

So we are, let's say, tied to the idea that
it be reasonable, and we have tried to take that
into account in determ ning what are service and
penal ty char ges.

And, yes, it is a way to pay for the business
of having a conputerized ticketing system and
staffing it.

LAWRENCE PAONE: If | nmay just junp in,
Senat or Kapl an.

| would just like to point out at this tine
t hat when a custoner purchases their tickets at the
box office, other than the facility fee, there is
no -- there are no service charges.

So you can tell all your constituents that
once Broadway is reopened, cone down to the box
of fice, and the enployees that | represent will be
nore than happy to sell thema ticket with no
servi ce charges.

SENATOR KAPLAN. | appreciate it.

Thank you so much

My time is up. | yield to you

Senat or Skoufi s.
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SENATOR SKOUFI S: Thank you, Senator Kapl an.

Senat or Martucci .

SENATCR MARTUCCI :  Thanks, Chairman.

So | just have one question, really, it could
be for anyone on the panel.

| think, Tom you brought it up in your
t esti nony.

You know, one of the things that | want to be
particularly sensitive to is the fact that, you
know, your industry is on its knees.

And | think we all understand that here,
we're all sensitive to that.

And you talked a little bit about recasting
t he shows, restaffing.

So maybe each of you, in terms of, you know,
t he conponents, or, certainly, M. Paone, the folks
who you represent, like, kind of give me sonme sort
of sense of, you know, what percentage of your
wor kf orce do you believe is gone?

You know, just kind of a little bit of
insight into what "restart” |ooks |like for you right
now, and how you think those chall enges are |aying
out .

Because, certainly, again, |I'msensitive to

the fact that any changes that are made in this
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phase need to be made with close attention paid to
the fact that there's a [indiscernible] in which to
i npl enent them and the fact that you're,
essentially, juggling several balls at a tine.

So | think I just want a basic understandi ng
of that.

TOM KI RDAHY:  Sur e.

| have two shows that will return
"Little Shop of Horrors" off Broadway and
"Hadest own" on Broadway.

Qur hope is that both shows will return this
fall.

We tal k daily about what the needs will be as
we return. That includes the ongoi ng well ness of
our conpani es.

A nunber of our cast menbers have had to nove
out of New York because they have no incone.

Peopl e have noved back to their famlies.

One cast nenber noved back to Canada, so
there are added i mm gration issues.

We know full well that people can't just cone
back and get on stage the next night. W're going
to have to re-rehearse them probably for
three weeks, which is a very expensive endeavor.

And, frankly, we believe that we're going to
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have to provide people with psychosocial support
services, nental -health support services, in order
to hel p peopl e succeed.

| nmean, the sort of chall enges of returning
are going to be enornous.

We have to remarket our shows.

We have to nmake sure that the public feels
saf e.

There -- | think that on both of nmy shows, by
and | arge, nost of the conpanies will come back.

We have done our best, because it's, frankly,
nmy val ue as an i ndependent producer, to stay in
touch with our conpanies, to check in with them
routinely, to keep them as engaged as possi bl e.

But all of that is -- is hard to determ ne
until we actually restart. And the process of
restarting is going to be intense, because it
really -- it's a |lot of people noving back into
New Yor k, securing either new housing or returning
to their old apartnments. Just getting into physical
shape to be able to do eight shows a week, sonething
none of us have been doing the way we once did.

It's a very, very difficult question to
answer, but I'lIl tell you, | spend about five hours

on Zoom a day, that's just on those subjects, doing
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my best to nake sure as a big a percentage of our
conpani es cone back as possi bl e.
But the challenges are going to be enornous.

Just enornmous. Things that we can't possibly

predict will present thenselves, | have no doubt
about that.
It will also be thrilling, because there's

nothing like the curtain going up.

"1l say that.

BOB BELBER: If you don't mnd, I'Il pop in
just for a mnute on that topic.

So the Tines Union Center in Al bany,
New York, is |ooking at the challenge as being only
al l owed to have 25 percent of our normal capacity to
be sold for events. And that's just recently, just
in the | ast couple of days. Effective as May 19t h,
we'll be able to sell up to 25 percent.

So for us that's going to be about
3500 tickets for an event.

And every event has to be presented to the
New York State Health Department for approval. And
we have a great relationship with the departnent,
and we've spent a lot of tinme with them to make
sure fans cone in and the environment is safe.

And our conpany, ASM d obal, which is the
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biggest in the world, with 350-plus facilities, has
a "venue shield" program that that's -- has a

t remendous nunber of protocols to keep the people
saf e.

And in other parts of the country, the
chal l enge for us in New York, is other parts of the
country are already opening up with 33 percent, or
50 percent, or in some cases, 75 percent and
100 percent.

And so the real tough thing for the tours,
for the biggest concerts that are going to cone out,
isif it's not across the board, so that everybody
has sonewhat of the sane nunber of seats avail able
to sell, it's going to be very hard for themto be
able to route tours.

And right now they are doing that. And we've
got a lot of dates on the cal endar for future, for
late fall, and into 2022, on the specul ation that
we're going to be at 75 or 100 percent, in hopes
that we'll be there.

But between now and the end of the fall,
we're hoping to be able to get pronoters that wll
come in and bring smaller country shows, conedy
shows, smaller famly shows, that will play to

3500 seats, with social-distance seating, people in
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groups, 6 feet apart throughout the arena.

And it's a chall enge, because the very next
state next to us may be at 10 percent; or, you know,
the other parts of the region nmay be getting nost of
the tour dates because they're already at a higher
nunber.

My point is that, to my know edge, in those
pl aces that have opened up with 33 percent or
hi gher, and they've used all the right protocols and
safety neasures, there's no spikes in cases that
have taken pl ace.

So I'"mhoping that there will be a
willingness to allow for an expansion, albeit with a
conti nuance of safety neasures, to allow the
sell able seats to be able to increase as rapidly as
possi bl e.

SENATOR MARTUCCI : Thank you, M. Bel ber.

And, certainly, | share that hope with you

And | know ny time is up, Chairman, so
Il will -- 1 will turn this back over to you.

But -- what | think, you know, as a cl osing
sentinent to nmy question, what | want you to know
is -- 1 don't knowif you were in a virtual green
room or where you were, when our Chairman kicked

off this Zoom but what | do want to you know is,
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we're certainly being very sensitive to the concerns
of the industry, with respect to reopening, the
duration of the closure, as any of these changes are
bei ng consi der ed.

So | thank you for your answer with respect
to that question.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S:  Thank you, and that's
absol utely right.

| would |ike to ask a question or two.

You know, it's been nentioned, M. Kirdahy,
and M. Hoover in particular, | understand your
position of |ooking for a straight extension here,
and your rationale is that, since the reforns in
2018, there really hasn't been adequate tinme to
eval uate the effectiveness of those changes.

That stands to reason.

| will say, and |I'm sure you both know, since
it sounds like you were involved in those anmendnents
in 2018, that, you know, the crux of those reforns
three years ago were focused on, really,

t ransparency.

| nmean, you had, you know, sone additi onal
di scl osures; you had sone transparency related to
specul ative tickets; you an attenpt at transparency,

and new enforcenment, surroundi ng what we, you know,
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di scussed before, these white-label ed resale sites.

But to be clear, the crux of the state's
ticketing | aws have been around for far |onger than
three years. They've been around for over a decade
now.

And so | guess ny question is:

You know, in light of the fact that, you
know, 2008 was 13 years ago, not 3 years ago, for
t hose conponents of the |aw that have been around
beyond 2018, do you think that, in those cases,

t here has been adequate tine to nake a proper
eval uation as to the effectiveness of those parts of
the | aw?

And | guess, you know, as a part two to the
guesti on:

Wiy not have an openness to those parts of
the | aw that have been around for a great deal of
time now, an openness to taking a | ook at their
ef fectiveness, and in those areas that -- that don't
have a direct inpact on the responsibilities of
Br oadway, of the producers, of the venues, of the
artists?

Wiy not have sone openness to trying to -- to
i nprove what was put in place in 2008?

Anyone want to take a stab at that first?
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G LBERT HOOVER: | nean, | guess ny reaction
is, yes, [indiscernible renote audio], the
provi sions that have been in there since 2008 have
been around | ong enough that we can make sone of
eval uati on.

Al t hough, I think you -- you -- your --
eval uating any |law, you have to |l ook at the ful
panoply of what the provisions are.

And so these new provisions, which | perceive
as beneficial about spec ticketing, prohibiting
deceptive practices, and white-I|abel ed websites,

t hose ki nds of additions, and increasing the
penal ties on bots, are positive.

And, overall, | feel as though the | aw works
wel |, on bal ance.

Are there things that, you know, down the
road, we nmay | ook at and say, you know, we -- you
know, mny personal opinion would be, specul ative
ticketing just shouldn't be permtted at all?

You know, there are other provisions that |I'm
sure people feel strongly about too.

But, overall, | feel as though it's working,
and especially in this climte where we don't know
what the new normal will ook Iike exactly.

We know, for exanple, under the interim
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guideline, that it's really inportant that we be
able to identify each of the custoners and where
they're sitting in our venue.

So | wouldn't want to do anything that would
interfere with technology that allows you to have
that type of a system

| don't know if that would be permanent, or
it would be tenporary, but it's sonething that needs
to be considered.

TOM KI RDAHY:  And to ne, it's really that
we're an industry that's -- we're fighting for our
lives right now, and we're all working together,
just to be able to go back.

And that's ny primary concern at this tine.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: And that's conpletely
under st andabl e, and | share that sentinent.

And to the extent that these comm ttees and
the legislature can be further hel pful in getting
your | egs back under you, | think -- I'd like to
think that we're all in agreenent here.

| guess, ny question is, though, you know.
I's it conceivable that -- that there are reforns
that can be nade here to the ticketing | aws that
coul d support that effort, that -- you know, that to

that end, can actually help you get your |egs back
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under you?

TOM KI RDAHY: | think it's so hard to nake
that determi nation right now, because we don't even
know what the inside of a theater will |ook |ike.

We don't know what seating is right now.

It's because of the question and chal | enge of
soci al distancing, we can't even | ook at a seat map
and properly make deci sions about what it will | ook
i ke at the nonent.

You know, | genuinely applaud the commttee,
and the intentions of what everybody is trying to do
here. | think it's wonderful .

| just think the timng is -- poses deep,
deep practical challenges to us right now.

And | feel your good will, | really want to
say that.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S:  Just -- ny tine is up, but
just one | ast question for nme. And if any other
nmenbers have questions, to please raise your hand in
t he Zoom

Changing topics a little bit, do any of you
feel that within the secondary market there is too
hi gh of a markup, or there can be too high of a
mar kup?

O do you think that it should be conpletely
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free-market, conpletely open-ended, and for the
hottest -- for hottest tickets, if soneone can sel
aticket, 10 tines, 20 tines, the face value, God
bl ess t henf

O do you think that there should be sone
reasonabl e safeguards in place within the secondary
mar ket on markups, so that, what |'Il characterize
as, average custoners, average New Yorkers, can
mai ntain access to those shows?

BOB BELBER: You know, if you don't mnd ne

chiming in on this, the fact is, if you go back --

and I'mgoing to date nyself here -- but, you know,
| still remenber that old | aw from way back, where
it was -- the resal e was capped --

SENATOR SKOUFI S:  $2.

BOB BELBER: -- at no nore than 10 percent of
t he face val ue.

And we saw how t he bl ack market, you know,
nore or |ess, destroyed the ticketing business back
t hen, because of the caps that were put on how much
the resal e coul d be.

The reality is, | think what Tom had said is
true.

|"ve got 75 percent of my seats that are

zip-tied right now and nobody can sit in them
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And so the timng is so premature.

Having said that, | think that this commttee
is -- should be a -- should be thanked for
everything that you're doing to try to protect the
consuner.

But | think that the |law that exists, if it
was extended for a limted nunber of years, a year
or two, whatever, to let us get our feet under us,
et the industry come back and host events.

And, if anything, | think enforcenent of the
current |law that does exist, nore enforcenent on
bots, you know, nore enforcenment on specul ative
tickets.

If there was an elim nation of specul ative
tickets, | think that woul d be wonderful.

As it relates to secondary markets putting
tickets on sale with specific seat |ocations before
t he show even goes on sale, is just wong in so many
ways.

So there are sonme things that could be done
within the nutshell of the law that currently
exi sts, that could probably make it better for the
consuner, as well as us in the venues, and for the
artists.

But | can't see where changes really, at this
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time, are needed in the actual |aw

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: Anyone el se want to speak
to the markup issue?

No?

Ckay.

"Il save that question for the next panel,
of resellers.

So seeing no other questions, | want to thank
each of you for your participation today.

And let's keep in close contact, not only on,
you know, this particular issue of the sunsetting
| aws, but, in general, like | said, | think, you
know, | speak for nost, if not all of ny coll eagues,
in wanting to support you all as we cone out of this
pandem c.

So, to that end, however we can be hel pful,
pl ease do be in touch

But thank you for participating today.

(AI'l panel participants say "Thank you.")

SENATOR SKOUFI'S:  All right. So our third
panel of four is next.

We have from StubHub, Laura Dool ey, head of
gl obal governnent affairs;

From Ti cket Net wor k, Donal d Vacarro, CEQ

From Vivid Seats, Ryan Fitts, vice president,
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| egal and governnent affairs;

And fromthe Coalition for Ticket Fairness,
Jason Berger, president.

Wl corme, everybody.

DONALD VACARRO  Thank you

RYAN J. FITTS: Thank you.

JASON BERCGER: Thank you.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: Ckay. Wiy don't we kick it
off, I"'mjust going to go in order on the agenda
| have here, StubHub, do you want to go first,

Ms. Dool ey?

LAURA DOOLEY: Absolutely.

Hi, Chair Skoufis, Chair Kapl an.

Thank you for having ne here today.

My nanme is Laura Dooley. |'mthe head of
government relations for StubHub

Many of you may know that StubHub was founded
in 2000, and we were really the first in the
secondary sal es narket.

We revol utionized an industry that used to
happen in the back of newspapers and cl assified ads
and on street corners, and put it on the Internet to
provi de a safe, secure, and transparent narketpl ace
for customers to buy and resell tickets.

St ubHuUb has a long history of working with
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pol i cymakers and regul ators, to better understand
our industry, and to pronote the enforcenent of
existing laws, or the creation of new laws, to
benefit our customers.

New York as a state has consistently led the
nation in its protections of consuners in this
i ndustry.

And we want to thank you all for that
| eader shi p.

St ubHUb was proud to have supported the
state's nost recent legislative initiatives in 2018,
whi ch i ntroduced several new consumer protections,
as well as enhancing existing consumer protections,
we believe all in the benefit of the custoner.

At that tinme we saw the enhanced penalties
for illegal bot usage, the regulation of the sale of
specul ative tickets, enhanced di scl osures on
deceptive URLs, renewing -- and then renew ng the
state's critical transferability requirenents.

Together, this list really is a robust set of
consuner protections that honestly ticks off nobst of
the public policy issues we hear debated about in
t he states today.

We strongly encourage the renewal of these

statutes, and are certainly open to di scussions on
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ot her issues, but certainly want to nake sure that
at | east those protections remain in place for
custoners, and that they're strongly enforced.

You know, as StubHub believes that, as our
i ndustry reenerges fromthe COVID-19 pandenic
enpowering consuners with flexibility and choice is
paramount to the success of our industry, as well as
to consuner protection.

We believe that the existing statute does
provi de those protections and aligns with those
pri nci pl es.

W're certainly willing and able to
participate in any state or health guidelines
required to get fans back into stadiunms and back
into theaters.

We do caution, though, against the use of
t echnol ogi es that may hi nder consuner choice or
transferability in a guised attenpt to kind of neet
t hose health requirenents.

We believe fans shoul d be accomodat ed
everywhere that they want to buy tickets, and
believe that we can do that, and find conprehensive
solutions to help restore our industry quickly.

To the extent that additional conversation is

war rant ed on enhanci ng consuner protections, we
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woul d point to increased transparency on the prinmary
mar ket .

It's not always about percentages of tickets
avai l abl e for sale, but just when they're going on
sal e, and maybe how many.

That type of information can be informative
to consuners as they nake their decisions.

W want to thank you for the opportunity
again to participate today.

Again, we strongly urge you to renew those
consuner protections, and we're happy to answer any
guestions after the panel is finished.

SENATOR SKOUFI S:  Thanks very rmuch,

Ms. Dool ey.

Next we'll hear from Ticket Network
M. Vacarro.

DONALD VACARRO  Right, thank you, Senator.

Thank you for everyone on the panel.

| appreciate the invite today, and | want to
try to be, as always, as candid as possible.

One, well, we have the issue of
transferability -- transferable tickets.

The | egi slation we have needs to go farther,
and it has to do with data; neaning, that other

states that have this | aw give consuners a |ot nore
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protection than New York consumers have about
transferability.

They're able to transfer the ticket wthout
goi ng through the vendor -- without going through
the primary vendor.

And in doing that, they don't have to give
this information up to the primary vendor, which the
pri mary vendor sells: your nane, your address, your
phone nunber, your |P address, your e-nmil address,
your physical address; unique identifiers.

So every tinme you're a New York resident and
you change tickets at sone primaries, they take that
information and they sell it, including your gender
and/ or change of gender.

That has to change.

Connecti cut consumers who buy New York events
don't have to share that information. But New York
consuners have to share it.

That has to change.

As far as the hol dbacks, you're absolutely
correct with the hol dbacks.

Hol dbacks will give clarity to the consuners.

And renenber, and | think there's a
fundanmental concept that a | ot of primary sellers

don't agree with, is that decreasing the supply
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rai ses the equilibriumprice.

So you can fix the market w th hol dbacks, and
raise the price on tickets, which does happen.

And | know Senat or Kaplan was tal ki ng about
when those tickets go back into the system and
she's right.

Sonme of those tickets, when they go back in
the system for hol dbacks, the price is raised to
many tines what it would normally be selling for,
due to venues using dynam c pricing.

But, probably the biggest issue that New York
has right nowis, as the first gentleman brought up,
in maki ng the venues the bad actor, when you talk
about venues that charge service charges, New York
has a specific statute, that venues are not all owed
to receive rebates.

They don't want that to happen because the
rebate is just an advance of the adm ssion price.

There are, literally, hundreds of mllions of
dol l ars due to New York consumers for New York
events, because the primary sellers jacked up the
service charge to give these illegal rebates to the
venue.

New York Attorney General knows about it,

they know it's there. They don't want to act on it,
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| don't know why.

But, again, that is probably the biggest
i ssue that we have.

My time is up.

So thank you for allowing me to speak.

SENATOR SKOUFI' S:  Thank you very much

W'l now hear fromVivid Seats, M. Fitts.

RYAN J. FITTS: Thank you.

Chair Skoufis, Chair Kaplan, and
di stingui shed Senators, nmy nanme is Ryan Fitts. [|'m
the vice president of legal affairs for Vivid Seats.

Thank you for the opportunity to testify
t oday.

Vivid Seats is an online ticket narketplace.

W have sent millions of fans to live events
si nce our founding 20 years ago, and we're now t he
official ticketing partner at ESPN

W' ve been successful because we put fans
first.

For the last two years, including during the
pandem c, we have been naned to "Newsweek's" |ist of
Anmerica' s Best Conpany's for Customer Service,
ranki ng nunmber one in ticketing.

A lot has changed in the |last year; our

commtnent to our custoners has not.
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We continue to be recogni zed as the industry
| eader in custoner service, as one of the few, and
perhaps the only, resale marketplace to always
provi de custonmers with cash-refund opti on when
events were cancel ed.

When we give custoners 100 percent buyer
guarantee, we neant it. W went further, still,
of fering custoners a choice to receive a 110 percent
credit so they can get nore bang for their buck when
events resune.

In those cases, we al so nade a 10 percent
contribution to Music Cares, which provides a safety
net for artists in tines of need.

And there's no doubt the |last year has been a
time of need. COVID 19 was devastating for our
i ndustry.

| renmenber |ast spring when event
cancel l ations starting popping up in the headlines.

Spring training shut down, and the
NCAA Tour nanment was cancel ed.

The ticketing industry was one of the first
to feel the econom c effects of the pandem c, and
will be anbng the last to recover.

But there is light at the end of the tunnel,

and we're | ooking forward to getting back to what we
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do best: sending fans to events.

We're 100 percent conmitted to doing it
safely. W' re dedicated to conplying with and
supporting public health requirenents before,
during, and after events.

As a technol ogy conpany, we are well
positioned to comruni cate entry requirenments, |ike
negati ve tests.

Qur inventory is strictly managed so we can
mai ntain [indiscernible] integrity.

W stand ready to assist with contact tracing
because we know our custoners.

In recent nonths, as events have reopened, we
have had no public health issues.

So that's what we're doing.

| know these conmittees are asking what the
| egi sl ature should be doing in this industry, and
| think the answer is clear:

Extend the existing |law for an additional
two years, and perhaps, in the case of hol dbacks,
expand it.

New York's law i s anong t he nost
conprehensive in the nation, focusing appropriately
on transferability; the notion that the ticket is

the fan's property to sell or give away if she
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want s.

This is the cornerstone of conpetition in
this industry, and without it, just one entity, the
corporation that controls the box office, would have
control over the entire ticket-distribution market.

| think we need nore conpetition in our
i ndustry, and not | ess.

Vivid Seats is conmtted to working with
these conmttees to foster innovation, pronote
conpetition, and protect New York's fans.

Thank you for your tine today, and |'d be
happy to answer any questions.

SENATOR SKOUFI' S:  Thank you very much

And finally we'll hear from Jason Berger,
Coalition for Ticket Fairness.

JASON BERGER  Good afternoon, Senators,
commttee staff, and industry stakehol ders.

My name is Jason Berger. | amrepresenting
the Coalition for Ticket Fairness, known as "CTF,"
which is a New York-based associ ati on of New York
i ndustry professionals, licensed ticket brokers, and
fans dedicated to transparency in the primry and
secondary market for entertai nnent tickets.

| have spent the last 30 years in the

ticketing industry.
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|'ve worked at Ticketmaster. | founded
Al l shows.com And |'ve been an advi sor to many
ticketing conpanies.

| have served as a president and board nenber
to industry associations, such as the National
Associ ation of Ticket Brokers, and the
New York State Ticket Brokers Association, as well
as others.

It is an honor to be invited to participate
today, as the CTF has an invested interest in the
| ongevity of the live-entertai nnent industry.

So, thank you.

The worl d of entertai nment provi des a gat eway
for New York tourismand other ancillary businesses
that rely on an industry to operate efficiently.

Br oadway, sports, and arenas, and all other
live entertai nnent, have been conpletely shut down
by COvID 19, and, nostly, still remain either closed
or partially reopened.

At the onset of the pandem c, nmany | arge
ticketing conpani es were under fire for slow refunds
and | ack of customer service.

This was generally not the case for
i ndependent small ticket resellers who base their

busi ness on stellar custoner service.
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The CTF has | earned of nmany stories of small
busi ness taking | oans to repay cancel ed shows that
weren't available to them for nonths.

This separated smal |l er i ndependent ticket
resellers fromthe box office and pronoters who
represented artists directly.

It is because of this customer service that
t he resal e business in New York receives an
extrenely | ow amount of conplaints year after year,
as docunented by the New York State Departnent of
Consumer Affairs.

The CTF is proud to show our conti nued
support for Article 25 of the Arts and Cul tural
Affairs Law. W believe this | aw provides fans
consuner protection, as well as a free and open
mar ket pl ace.

Over 45 percent of tickets on the secondary
resale market are sold for |ess than box office
pri ce.

This is what happens when a free and open
mar ket pl ace, rather than a market that is
artificially set by one conpany, team or artist.

Simply put, the free market for tickets
continues to work for consuners in New York

We ask that the pillar of the New York |aw,
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ticket transferability, be observed, maintained, and
enf or ced.

Consuners want the right to choose where they
buy, sell, and transfer their tickets.

Further, we ask that operators nake a
good-faith effort to read Article 25, and recognize,
it was never the intent of the lawto allow an
operator to take away season tickets based on the
subscri ber reselling them

In fact, we argue that Article 25 intends to
stop that kind of activity.

This is a free market, and tickets are
expected to sell by a very -- in a very active
secondary market .

Many fans of teanms have invested years of
capital in purchasing season tickets and the
licenses that go with them just to be told by the
teamthat their tickets are being taken away, and
the only basis for taking themaway is that they've
been resold in the secondary narket.

This kind of activity places a chilling
effect on the market, and, therefore, is bad for
CONSUNers.

I n concl usi on:

After a year of such incredible upheaval,




© 00 ~N oo o b~ w N P

N NN N NN P R PR R R R R R R
gag A W N P O © 0o N oo 0o M W N -+ O

122

COVI D-19 affecting everyone, especially our
i ndustry, the CTF believes it is unwi se to make any
changes to the existing |aw.

It is best to allow the best law in the
nation to be replicated in other states, and sinply
needs to be foll owed and enforced.

Consequently, we support the passage in both
houses of a nmulti-year extender of Article 25.

Thank you again for your time, and |'m happy
to answer any questions you m ght have.

SENATOR SKOUFI S:  Thanks very rmuch,

M. Berger, and to all the panelists.

"1l start.

The current statute requires that brokers be
licensed with New York State.

It's nmy understanding, through testinony --
witten testinony fromthe Yankees, and ot hers,
that, you know, there is an understanding that there
is a significant anount of broker activity that
happens without a license, and is thus illegal.

| guess, M. Berger, can you first answer
whet her you can share with these commttees in
con -- with a high level of confidence, that all of
your menbers are |icensed?

And a question to the other panelists:
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How do you all nonitor on your platfornms
whet her brokers reselling tickets on StubHub, and
el sewhere, do have their proper licenses with
New Yor k State?

JASON BERCGER: Thank you, Senator Skoufis.

| can just answer the first part.

In terns of our nmenbers, we actually don't
have nenbers.

The Coalition for Ticket Fairness is not a
nmenber shi p- based organi zati on

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: M apol ogi es.

JASON BERCER: So -- well, no problem

SENATCR SKOUFI S: You understand what | nean,
t hough?

JASON BERCGER: Yeah, absolutely.

So we don't -- | nean, there are |ots of
conpani es in New York, and any of them can support
us. Any individual fans, yeah, anyone, can support
the Coalition for Ticket Fairness.

So if you' re asking ne what would | feel in
terms of the nunber of people who are licensed
versus the nunmber that would not be |icensed,
| think there's a lot that goes into that.

| would |ike to personally see nore people

licensed in the state, and | think that there is a




© 00 ~N oo o b~ w N P

N NN N NN P R PR R R R R R R
gag A W N P O © 0o N oo 0o M W N -+ O

124

few reasons why that is not the case.

The New York State licensing fee for ticket
resellers is $5,000. It's higher than any ot her
license in the state.

We actually have been told that nedica
licenses in the state are |ess.

So in order -- that -- that barrier of entry
for soneone, and | use the anal ogy of
cryptocurrency, if you ask soneone who sells -- buys
and sells cryptocurrency, a |lot of people that you
know m ght say, yes, | do it.

But, at what point does the person say that
they're a professional cryptocurrency trader?

At what point is a season ticket hol der a
prof essi onal seller?

It's hard to make that distinction

However, we would like to nake that barrier
to entry lower, so that if the licensing fee was
| owered from $5, 000, we believe there would be a | ot
of individual sellers and fans, who sold tickets on
a regular basis, who would say it would be worth
their tinme and investnent.

So | think that that is one of the biggest
barriers right nowin the state to enter the market

and becone |icensed.
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And | do share your concern that there are
not enough people licensed in the state.

| think that's one of them

And | also think that, also, the |icensing
has a very antiquated reporting, where -- whereby
you actually have to report your sales in two
different tinmes, January to June, and July through
Decenber .

The filing, so let's say July through
Decenber, it's due on Decenber 31st, and it has to
i ncl ude your sales that you make on Decenber 31st.

So your report is actually due during the
time that you have to file it.

So there are sonme things that | would love to
work with your office and the commttee nenbers, to
di scuss ways that we can inprove that |icensing
reporting to make it easier for small business.

Most of the people in our -- that we are
aware of in the state are small businesses, and it's
very hard to conply with a regulation |like that.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: | appreciate that.

Bef ore we hear fromthe others, | would just
note that the | aw does not distinguish, you know,
whet her -- you know, if you' re a professional or

sort of do this as a hobby, whether you need a
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l'icense.

It's pretty clear, as far as | can tell, as
to who needs to be licensed as a broker in
New York State, right down to, you know, qualifiers,
such as, if you own and operate an office or an
agency or a branch, you know, you nust be |icensed
in New York State.

| f you participate in auctions, you have to
be licensed in New York State.

So, you know, it's not a matter of -- so
per haps, you know, there are barriers, but they're
not optional.

| f you conduct this activity in
New York State, whether you like the barriers or
not, whether the barriers are high or |ow, you need
to be |icensed.

And so | do believe the statute is pretty
clear, and it doesn't offer really very much of a
gray area in terns of, oh, do | need to be |licensed
in ny profession or not?

But if we can hear fromthe other three as to
what you all do to ensure on your platforns that
brokers who participate are indeed |icensed in
New Yor k.

RYAN J. FITTS: | can start.
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| nmean, we do require professional sellers in
New York to disclose a New York |icense nunber to
us, so we can track that.

We also display it on the site.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S:  But do you have a neans of
i dentifying fol ks who should be |icensed, but are
not ?

RYAN J. FITTS: | nmean, we definitely know
who our sellers are. And so we -- if sonebody's
offering a ticket professionally on the site, then
we do require a New York |icense.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: O herw se, they cannot nove
forward with that sal e?

RYAN J. FITTS: Yeah, | nean, you can't -- if
we're -- if we don't know you, you can't sel
tickets on our website. W carefully vet ourselves.

SENATOR SKOUFI S:  Ckay.

Ms. Dool ey?

LAURA DOCLEY: Sure.

| think simlar to Ryan, we, simlarly, when
the | aw was enhanced in 2018, notified our sellers
of this requirenment, that their |icense should now
be published on our website as well. And worked
with themto collect that information and to publish

it.
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| don't -- | think it mght be a stretch too
far to say that we proactively police the sellers on
our site. W are a marketplace. But our user
agreenent does require that they follow all |aws of
the states in which they' re selling.

So to the extent that we're nade aware that a
broker isn't licensed in New York, we would take
issue with that. It would be a violation of our
policies, and certainly could result in the renoval
fromour site -- or, suspension fromour site until
t hose situations were corrected.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S:  So have you identified
your sel ves any brokers that are not licensed, or is
it really just a matter of you're just notifying
everyone, you need to be |icensed?

LAURA DOOLEY: The latter.

To nmy know edge, |'m not aware of any, |ike,
preenptive, like, situations where we policed that
on our own.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S:  Ckay.

M. Vacarro?

DONALD VACARRO If I'"mcorrect, every
br oker, everyone who sells a New York event ticket
on our system is |icensed.

"1l check it out and verify it.
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We al so display that |icense nunber, as
required by the | aw

SENATOR SKOUFI S:  Ckay.

Senat or Kapl an, do you have any questions?

SENATOR KAPLAN: | do. Thank you.

SENATOR SKOUFI S:  Ckay.

SENATCOR KAPLAN: First of all, let nme thank
t he panel for joining us today and for their
t esti nony.

My first question is for
M. Donal d Vacarro.

| recently read an article titled "How Is

This Legal ," witten by Byard Duncan.

|"msure you're quite famliar with it, you
are quoted in the article.

You're actually quoted, stating that,

"Specul ative market is a great thing, and it's very
pro consuner."

This article al so says that your conpany
refunds those of your custoners who don't receive
tickets, and that you propose to the attorney
general that anyone who did not get a ticket be paid
a 200 percent refund.

Do you stand by these words?

And what steps does your conpany take to
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ensure consuners are nmade aware that they are not
actually guaranteed to receive a ticket?

DONALD VACARRO. Got it.

So I'll go through the 200 percent refund
first.

In the nmeeting with, | believe it was
Senat or Squadron, who used to be a senator in
New York, we -- a group of folks in primary and
secondary gathered in the room and we tal ked about
ref unds.

And | believe, if I'"mcorrect, all the
secondary mar ket pl aces agreed that if consuners
sonmehow don't get the ticket they're guaranteed or a
better seat, that the consuners would get a
200 percent refund.

But, | also believe at the same tine, the
primary ticketer said, no, we can't do that.

So that's what happened with the 200 percent
| egi sl ation.

As far as the disclosure on our website,
again, we put up all of the disclosures on the
website, as required. And we enforce it alittle
bit nmore stringently, not only in New York, but in
ot her states, about it.

And as far as speculative tickets -- and it
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depends on, everybody has a different definition of
"specul ative tickets" -- but, anyway, anytine --
there's two things about it:

Anytime you add supply to the narketpl ace,
the equilibriumprice goes down.

So you conbine selling tickets before you
have themin hand, and consumer prices go down.

And the reason why they do is because of what
Senat or Skoufis was bringing up, these massive,
massi ve, nassive hol dbacks of tickets create a
scarcity effect, which allows primary ticketers to
artificially raise the price that consuners pay.

That's why there's hol dbacks in the system

And if you ask them and you find out, and if
you speak to soneone a little bit nore neutral,
you' |l find out exactly what you said,

Senat or Kapl an: Wen they add t hose hol dbacks in,
and there's a scarcity, they raise the price.

SENATOR KAPLAN:.  Thank you.

DONALD VACARRO  Thank you

SENATOR KAPLAN:  You al so nmentioned in your
witten testinony about the congressional hearing in
2020, addressing the ticketing industry, and a bill
by Congressman Pascrell, | believe.

Can you expand upon your conments a bit, and
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expl ai n what issues Congress was | ooking to address
t he industry, and whet her New York al ready nade
t hose changes to address --

DONALD VACARRO  Ckay.

SENATOR KAPLAN:. -- [sinmultaneous speakers;
i ndi scerni ble] the 2018 anendnents?

DONALD VACARRO  Thank you, Senat or.

So their -- Congress, their biggest -- they
have two big issues in Congress.

One is, ticket transferability -- okay? --
because wi thout ticket transferability, consuners
don't have a right to a product.

And there's sone arcane notion that tickets
are universally |icensed.

They' re not.

I n Connecticut, tickets are, statutorily,
property, and you can resell it.

And now the problemwi th transferability

And I'"mgoing to share with you sonme pretty
nasty stories, but, we'll have to go through it.

-- so sonetines with ticket transferability,
people try to stratify society.

There was a professional baseball teamin

New Yor k, who had sone fans sitting right by the




© 00 ~N oo o b~ w N P

N NN N NN P R PR R R R R R R
gag A W N P O © 0o N oo 0o M W N -+ O

133

field. And the team said, Those fans don't | ook
i ke they belong there.

Because they were | ow i ncone people who
bought a very expensive ticket at a low price in the
secondary market, nmuch |ower, and they sat down by
the field.

And | don't know if you saw John diver at
night. He nade jokes of it and fun of it.

Two professional owners, two owners of
prof essi onal basketball teans, both said they don't
want people of a certain color in their venue.

Both owners had to divest fromthe teans.

So there's a ot of problens with tickets not
bei ng transferable.

Congress knows that that's one issue.

The second issue is data.

Let's say, nobst venues are either -- a lot of
venues are 501(c)(3) which have gover nnent
protections, or state venues.

Can you believe, you're going to a state
venue that you paid for as a taxpayer. And in order
to buy a ticket, you have to share this incredible
anount of data with the primary ticketer, who then
sells it. Your personal phone nunber, your IP

address; everything they can possibly do to track
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you, put things on your website, or on your browser,
to track you, and then they sell that data.

It's different if a private customer does
it -- or, a private conpany.

But the best thing |I could ever say is, if
you saw Di ck Durbin question Mark Zuckerberg, and
say, Mark Zuckerberg, do you want to tell me the
hotel you stayed at |ast night?

And he said, No. | don't want to give you ny
personal information.

So if you ask that sanme question to anyone in
the primary market, or stuff like that, "Wuld you
mnd if we sold all your personal information?"
| think if they were being candid with you, they
woul d admt that they have a big problemwth it.

SENATOR KAPLAN:. (Ckay. Thank you.

DONALD VACARRO  Thank you

SENATOR SKOUFI'S:  Are you finished,

Senat or Kapl an?

SENATOR KAPLAN:  Yes.

SENATOR SKOUFI S:  Yeah, okay. Thank you.

"1l ask a few nore questions, then.

Those of you who are brokers, or you engage
wi th brokers, can you tell me, say, you know, the

really hot tickets; the hot concerts, and sporting
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events, playoffs, et cetera, what's the |argest
nunber of tickets that you' ve seen a broker buy up
with intention to resell?

JASON BERGER: | nean, | don't -- | would --
| can answer --

SENATOR SKOUFI' S:  Bal l park. Gbviously, |'m
not | ooking for an exact nunber here.

JASON BERCGCER: -- yeah, | nean | don't really
know how we woul d even be able to quantify that,

because we don't really have nunbers |ike that.

| don't know. | really wouldn't have no
i dea.

| would say, with an open transparent
mar ket pl ace, though, | nmean, | don't think it's very
hi gh.

| think there's a |ot of conpanies
participating and conpeting, but | don't think that
nunber is very high.

But | don't have data |like that, so
| couldn't really -- I wish | could help you

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: Certainly, you know, 100
right? -- I"msure that's happened.

Has any broker ever bought 1,000 tickets to a
singl e event?

DONALD VACARRO  Senat or Skoufis, if | may,
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| think what's inportant here is to distinguish that
there are nany event producers -- okay? -- and many
sports teans in the | eagues, that sell directly,
t housands of tickets to brokers, or arbitragers, to
reduce the risk on their event, if they are not
contractually tied into the primary ticketer that
they have to sell themthere

And that's another issue too, as well, that
there's only a certain segnent of the popul ation, or
of the --

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: If | could interrupt,
t hough.

But, certainly, there's no risk for, let's

say, a World Series ganme. You know you're going to

sell out.
DONALD VACARRO | think there's a huge risk
to the Wrld Series gane, because what -- just to

share with you, sonetinmes when you have to buy that
Wrld Series tickets, you might have to prepay, as a
broker, the full next season and you m ght have to
buy nore expensive seats the next season to do it.
Also, in order to buy the Wrld Series gane,
you might have to buy all the playoff games before
it. And just, sonetinmes, people just don't want to

go to the playoff ganes.
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You know, they get -- when the Yankees are
constantly winning, they don't want to go that nuch.

So there is a trenmendous amount of risk with
sonmething |ike that.

But anytine that there's --

SENATCOR SKOUFI'S:  Risk for the broker; not
for the pronoter or the venue. Right?

| nmean, when you're tal king about ri sk,
you' re tal king about for the broker?

DONALD VACARRO  Absol utely. The broker

t akes --

SENATOR SKOUFI'S:  Yeah, just to be clear.
kay.

DONALD VACARRO  -- a huge capital risk
Ri ght .

And, again, there's a |lot of teans, |eagues,
and pronoters who want the brokers to take that
capital risk, because, you know what? That neans
| ess advertising that they do. Less things that can
go wr ong.

Because | know what you're saying about the
Wrld Series. And years ago it was really true,
when the Wirld Series tickets were cheap.

But now as that price goes up, if they're

forecasting rain -- you know what | nean? -- it
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m ght not be as good anynore, and that price m ght
di ve down.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S:  And so what you're
describing -- what you're describing, where the
team or the pronoter, the venue, they actively seek
out sales with brokers.

G ve ne a sense of how normal that is.

So, let's take M.B

Does that happen with regul ar season ganes?

DONALD VACARRO Wth all the major -- with
the four major |eagues, alnost -- all mgjor |eagues
have teans. All teans in the four nmgjor |eagues
have a deal with what they call "brokers" or
"consolidators" to buy tickets, and then resel
t hem

And we're tal king, at that nunber, probably
with the four major |eagues, |eague-w de, is well
over half a billion, maybe close to a billion
dollars, that's invested before those | eagues go on
sale -- before those go on sale.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S:  And what percent age of
tickets are we tal ki ng about, on average, if that
happens?

DONALD VACARRO | woul d probably think that

that's -- let's see.
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Maybe 10 percent of the tickets.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: Do the rest of you agree
with that, that 10 percent?

JASON BERCER: | wouldn't have a way to know.

But | would like to add on sonething to
the -- what Don had nentioned, that, you know,
earlier we heard Ticketmaster tal k about the
pl ati num sal es, and how they hold tickets back, or
they sell themat various prices.

We're all independent and we all conpete with
each other, and we all have multiple platforns that
we market our tickets from whereas Ticketmaster
only sells exclusively.

So a performer, a team or an artist would
have a great benefit to selling their tickets
t hrough our exchanges as well. It gives it nore
visibilty.

We, potentially, could have | ower fees. W
have -- you know, we all conpete with each other.

So | think that there's also -- there's a big
benefit. And that's why we're seeing a | ot nore of
t hese deals that Don Vacarro just nentioned, about
teans and performers going out to consolidators and
people in the secondary market, because it gives

them an alternate, rather than dealing exclusively
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with Ticketmaster and exclusively with their terns.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: Cot it.

Changing gears a little bit, and 1"l
continue, since | don't see any of ny coll eagues
hands raised in the Zoom

Do any of you engage in reselling -- | don't
even know if that's the right word, given the
circunstance -- but 1'll say, reselling tickets that
were free on -- on point of sale?

LAURA DOOLEY: Senator, | can junmp in here.

St ubHuUb has a policy, that we don't I|ist
tickets for events -- tickets to free events.

So the exanpl e provided earlier about the
Pope's visit to New York, that's an event that just
woul dn't even be created on the StubHub platform

And we hold that as the consistent policy
across any type of free events along those |ines.

SENATOR SKOUFIS: So you -- is it -- is it
fair to say StubHub's position on making that
practice illegal, it would favorable, or fine with
t hat ?

LAURA DOOLEY: Yeah, certainly for free
events.

SENATOR SKOUFI S:  Yeabh.

LAURA DOOLEY: | think the nuance of
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charitabl e events becones a little bit nore
difficult.

|"mcertainly not opposed to regulating the
sale of charitable tickets; however, not every
charitable event is created equally.

You know, is it 1 percent of the proceeds?
Is it 100 percent of the proceeds?

We have policies in place to ensure that,
when we're at -- you know, the majority of proceeds
going to a charity, or -- we will not allowtickets
to be sold for that event, unless we are in
partnership with the charity, or we conmt to
provi di ng our own proceeds to the charity as well.

And | think just working through those
nuances for charitable events would be inportant.

But certainly, for free events, it feels very
sinpl e, from our perspective.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: The rest of you?

RYAN J. FITTS: Yeah, | think | agree that
we' re, philosophically, open to the idea that free
events shouldn't be resold.

| think that there m ght be the slight
danger, is what if it's a free ticket with a
$50 T-shirt, or there's sone kind of way to game

t hat by sonebody.
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But if we have, you know, clear guidelines as
to what is "free" and what is permssible,
phi | osophically, we would agree with that.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S:  So do you prohibit selling
free tickets on your [simultaneous speakers;
i ndi scernible] --

RYAN J. FITTS: W do.

| nmean, the event that sticks out in ny mnd,
is | renmenber that tragedy [inaudible renote audi 0]
worked for at the Ariana Gande concert in London,
and they did a huge benefit for that. And we
weren't reselling that.

SENATOR SKOUFI S:  Ckay.

DONALD VACARRO So | take a slightly
different take on this.

| would say this: Anytine there is an event,
where it's for sone certain purpose, that it's free
for an ethical reason, yes.

| don't know of any free tickets that we ever
resell. And | haven't checked it, anything that.

But | know that sonetines we get
conplimentary tickets that we resell.

| wouldn't want to get that bundled in.

Sonetine there's tickets in other states that

don't have a price on it.
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As far as charitable events, | take great
exception to not being able to resell them and |'m
going to share with you why.

I n Connecticut we have, every year, an annual
hundred -- the NAACP does a show, the 100 Peopl e of
Col or, every year, and it's at the NAACP conventi on.

So two years ago they called ne up. They
said, Look, we're doing a show W want you to
buy -- we want you to pay for the artists, put up
the noney. We'Ill give you the tickets, you sel
t hem because we want the show to happen.

So there's a lot of smaller charities that
people really don't give that nmuch to, whether it's
t he National Action Network, the NAACP, which I'm
bi g supporters of both.

| actually did the show for them and paid for
t hem

But, again, they needed ny distribution to
sell those charitable tickets out there.

So as far as the charitable ones, | have a
big problemwith trying to do -- nmake that illegal
because | think, in a lots of ways, you're
di senfranchi sing charities who don't -- who don't
have the narketi ng wherewithal, and they don't have

t he hi gh-val ue donors.
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SENATOR SKOUFI'S: M. Berger?

And then I'lIl go to Senator Kaplan. | see
her hand rai sed.

JASON BERCGER: Yeah, | would agree with what
Don had menti oned.

|"ve worked with nonprofits, we currently
work with nonprofits, and we help themin terns of
fundrai sing and marketing to our clientele.

So | think that the idea of working with
nonprofits.

Free tickets, you know, there's -- we talked
about the -- the Pope event. W didn't sell tickets
for that. We didn't sell tickets for these
hi gh-profile free events.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: |Is "Shakespeare in the
Par k" -- "Shakespeare in the Park" is another event
in New York City, free tickets that are very
comonly resol d?

JASON BERCGER: Yeah, | don't renenber selling
tickets for "Shakespeare in the Park." So | -- so
that's sonmething that it's -- if we did sell it,
| can't tell you off the top of my head.

| don't think we did.

So | can tell you this, though: There are a

| ot of people, when the market works well, and it's
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regul ated, it protects the buyers and the sellers.

I f you' re | ooking at "Shakespeare in the
Park," and people who do buy and sell those tickets,
and they go to Craigslist and eBay, those are the
kind of conplaints that we see in the departnent of
consuner affairs consistently.

"' mnot saying that that should be all owed.

Probably shouldn't be, and it should be
regul at ed.

But the idea, though, is that when there's a
free and open market pl ace, and people are protected
and the players are regulated, | think it hel ps
CONSUIEers.

So the nore -- the nore cutouts that you put
on that, | think it creates barriers for custoners
to get tickets at a fair -- at a fair point through
an online marketpl ace.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: Ckay. Thank you.

Senat or Kapl an?

SENATOR KAPLAN: [ I naudi bl e renote audi 0]
2018 | aw put additional limtations on the sale of
t he specul ative ticketing; however, it appears that
sonme of those limtations may not be strong enough
to alert the consunmers to the fact that they're

buyi ng specul ative tickets.
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Can any of you speak a little bit about your
t hought s on whether these limtations on specul ative
ticketing are sufficient in transparency to protect
t he consumer?

RYAN J. FITTS: | can begin.

| nmean, | think we definitely agree with the
principle that people should understand what they're
buyi ng, there should be clear disclosure; and people
shoul d get what they pay for, there should be
ful fillnment.

And in 2018, you know, there was a | aw passed
in New York that really solidified that.

We supported that law at the time; we support
it now.

And, you know, we think we should let it play
out and see how things go. W really haven't had
events for the |ast 14 nonths.

But, we think that's a good | aw, we think the
| aw shoul d be enforced.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: Do you all at al
conmuni cat e?

| know you're conpetitors, but do you
comuni cate with each other in identifying these
i nci dences, or do you just work alone on this?

LAURA DOOLEY: | think there are instances,
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Senator, where we have received e-mails fromthe
primary market, suggesting that -- or regul ators,
suggesting that sone of the listings on our site are
specul ati ve.

When we receive those, we just take a
standard practice of investigating, you know,
exactly what's going on; contacting the seller,
trying to understand if they appropriately sourced
that inventory.

And if we find that they have not, then that
i nventory cones down from our site.

So it is a collaborative process, but the
col |l aboration | think happens nore between oursel ves
and the primary, as opposed to ourselves and ot her
secondary pl atforms.

| also think it's fair to say, like, the
two or three instances | can think of in ny tine at
St ubHUb where we have received an e-nail |ike that,
it has been for nmajor events, |ike mjor headline
concert tours going through.

| think M. -- M. -- David talked to us
earlier about them not being able to maybe police it
as nmuch as they would |Iike, and we can appreciate
t hat perspective.

But, certainly, when those inquiries cone in
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we take them seriously.

SENATOR KAPLAN:.  Thank you.

SENATOR SKOUFI S:  Thank you, Senator Kapl an.

| want to turn to fees.

In the docunent requests that nost of you
returned to our conmittee | ast year, you spoke at
| engt h about the service charges that your platforns
enpl oy.

And you're just as -- just as sort to test,
| have used StubHub before, just as a refresher,
| went on this norning and | ooked -- | ooked up --
gueued up a ticket for a Mets gane this weekend.

And in the docunent request on StubHub --
from StubHub, you had noted | ast year that your fees
range from 20 to 30 percent.

And, sure enough, the fees -- the accumul at ed
fees here amounted to 27 percent on the tickets
| was | ooking at.

So a couple of things.

First, it's not one fee.

" m | ooking at a service fee. |'m]looking at
a fulfillment fee.

And | know for other platforns that is
common, where there is not just one fee, there are

mul ti ple fees, assessed on tickets.
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Can you explain to me what the difference is
bet ween the service fee and the fulfillnent fee; how
you cone up with those charges?

And | guess, you know, we heard froma
previ ous witness that they do not believe that --

t he "reasonabl eness” clause of Article 25 in the
state's ticketing laws, they do not believe it
applies to secondary narkets.

| think there's a gray area, at best.

The statute refers the "licensees."” |t does
not refer specifically to prinmary marketpl aces only.

And so | guess ny question also extends: Do
you believe that you all are subject, in the
secondary marketplace, to the "reasonabl eness”
cl ause that governs these service fees?

And if so, how you determ ne
“reasonabl eness. "

| know there are a | ot of questions there,
but perhaps, Ms. Dooley, if you want to start?

LAURA DOOLEY: Absolutely.

So, fundanentally, the difference between our
service fee and our fulfillnent fee is -- is how
t hey' re det erm ned.

Qur service fee is dynamic. It is -- it

evol ves.
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And that's a pretty standard industry
practice, which is why, you know, we provided a
range, not a specific nunber.

That dynam cness of that fee is always a
percentage of the ticket price, but may fl uctuate,
based on the type of event, the genre, or various
ot her factors.

The fulfillnment fee is static.

And so that's a fee that will -- that is
determ ned, based on the type of ticket you're
buyi ng.

So if you're buying a nobile transfer ticket,
or nobile ticket, it's always $2.50.

| f you're buying a hard-stock ticket, that
requires, you know, essentially, the seller to mail
it to the buyer, that is always a flat fee of,
| believe it's $5.25, regardl ess of how nuch it
actually costs to nmake that shipnent.

And so those are the differences between the
two fees, essentially.

| think, fromour perspective, you know,
| have not -- | -- | certainly do not have a fully
i nformed opinion, and it's sonething we can
certainly ask our |egal counsel, about whether or

not we're subject to that "reasonabl eness”
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requirenent.

But in establishing our fees, you know, we
need to be reasonable in order to earn custoners.

And so, you know, if our fees weren't
conpetitive, or if we were consistently higher in
our fees than any of our conpetitors in the
secondary market, we would | ose sales; we truly
bel i eve that.

And so, you know, we believe our fees are
conpetitive.

We believe that our fees are al ways
di spl ayed, and very -- and nade very nuch aware to
our custoners before they purchase.

And it's our, you know, assessnent that the
nore conpetition we have in the secondary narket,
the nore inportant it beconmes for those fees to stay
conpetitive, because that is what will drive the
user experience, that's what will drive custoners.

So [ simultaneous speakers] --

SENATOR SKOUFI'S:  What does -- thank you for
t hat .

What does your fulfillnment fee speak to?

Li ke, what is that cost related to at StubHub?

LAURA DOOLEY: So for -- | nmean, it's very
evident for the UPS costs. Right? And they could
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[ si mul t aneous speakers; indiscernible] --

SENATCR SKOUFI'S:  For mail, that was evident.

LAURA DOOLEY: -- yeah, for UPS --

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: |I'mtal king about the
el ectronic.

LAURA DOOLEY: -- right.

And just, for equitable distribution,
creating a service for any other type of, you know,
ticket delivery, it's -- again, it's static.

Sonmetimes it is like, you know, part of a
partnership deal that we may have, or sonething
al ong those |ines.

But, again, it's -- it is, | think, al
intents and purposes, all fees go to the sane
effort, which is the operation of our business, the
privilege of partnering with various marquee, |ike,
| eagues, or teanms, or whatnot. And it just,
essentially, funds our ability to provide a safe and
secure platformfor our custoners.

SENATOR SKOUFI S:  Ckay.

RYAN J. FITTS: If | can piggyback on what
Laura was saying, | think we care about fees and
prices, we care about conpetition; we care about
conpetition, we care about transferability.

So transferability is vital in this market.
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It seens |ike whenever this bill comes up for
extension, there are elenents in the prinmary sale
that try to push back on that notion

But that's actually a really key thing to
keep prices | ower.

Speaking to our fees, | nean, our fees are
used to support the services that we provide.

So we have a full-time call center that
operates to assist people, from7 a.m to mdnight,
with any issues they m ght have.

W have a large antifraud team You know, we
carefully vet our sellers before we put themon the
site.

| think the real distinction is that, you
know, change between now, and maybe between the
1990s when | was just noving to Chicago, you know,
if I wanted to see the Cubs, | had to go find a guy
on the street corner. He didn't have a guarantee,
you know, he didn't have sel ection.

But what we do is, we take that nonment of
wal ki ng up to the gate, and we make sure people are
certain that they have what they need to get in.

We provide that assurance, we provide that
flexibility.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S:  Ckay.
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DONALD VACARRO As far as Ticket Network's
fees, 50 percent of our sites, that we have our
branded sites, do not charge any service charges.

100 percent of our sites allow consunmers to
see the total final cost of the ticket before they
enter any personal identifiable information.

That was sonething that the FTC director
brought up, that she wanted to see all sites do.

If I"mcorrect, | believe StubHub has that
toggle, | believe, to see the service fees on there.

And it gets consuners the transparency of not
having to wait till the end of the transaction to
see how nmuch they're paying.

And, we lose sales fromit.

But, you know what? |f a consuner is better
i nfornmed, you get a nuch better response fromthem
and, hopefully, they'll repeat.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: Ckay. Thank you for that.

Let ne -- let nme ask about markups on the
secondary mar ket pl ace.

And | guess, understandi ng and acknow edgi ng
t hat many events obviously do not sell out; in fact,
many tickets that are resold are at or bel ow face
val ue, or, you know, what the price was at point of

sal e.
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So with that acknow edgnment, | want to speak
to the other events, the events that do sell out,
the events that produce a very hot ticket.

Do any of you -- | guess, let nme start with
this:

Do you have synpathy for those fans who --
wor ki ng, m ddl e class, |ower incone, who would | ove
to see their favorite artist, would | ove to see, you
know, the marquee pitching matchup of their favorite
t eam

The gane is sold out, oftentimes within, you
know, literally, a mnute, or a couple of mnutes in
sone cases;

And then, you know, in a desperate attenpt to
try and get their son a ticket for their birthday,
the only place is the secondary narketpl ace;

And for those hot events, they have to now
pay, and they cannot afford, a ticket that is triple
or quadruple or 10 tines the face value when it went
public -- when the event went public?

Do you have synpathy for those, what 1']I
call, "average" fans that don't cone fromwealth
that they woul d probably argue are | ocked out of
t hese types of events?

LAURA DOOLEY: You know, Senator, | think
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it's a challenging market, and, certainly, you know,
we understand that not all consumers are able to
participate in.

You know, certainly, you know, there's
enpat hy for that.

| do believe, though, that what the secondary
mar ket provides is additional access that nay not
have been provided to them ot herw se, regardl ess of
t heir soci oeconom c st at us.

You know, the ticket-selling process is
opaque. You know, we've tal ked about that a | ot
t oday, you know, regardl ess of whether it's possible
to highlight how many, |ike, the percentage, of
tickets that will be nade avail abl e, and how nany
won't.

You know, | think we can all agree it is
definitely possible to tell people how many tickets
are going on sale in any given nonment, and how nany
tickets will go on sale maybe next week, or the
foll owi ng week, or the week after that.

And, unfortunately, |ike, what you end up
finding is this artificial notion that all of these
events are sold out, when, in reality, they' re not.

We heard that today. Right? There's only a

few percentage of events that sell out.
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When there is anple supply, secondary markets
provi de an access point at a significantly reduced
rate. Right?

Li ke, it's not uncommon to find basebal
tickets for 8, 10 dollars on StubHub

That's a great benefit for fans.

But on the flip side of that, with any
mar ket, there are those, |ike prem er events, that
will come at a hei ghtened cost.

You know, StubHub isn't setting the price.

The price is being set by our sellers, and
they're pricing it to what the market can bear.

You know, if the market can't bear a high
nunber, those nunbers will drop.

And | think, you know, the nature of our
business is that there is Iimted supply and there
is significant demand.

And | think the market forces create that
situation that you just described.

W're very aware of it.

And what we want to do, is make sure that if
a custoner chooses to spend their hard-earned
dollars with StubHub, they are receiving a premer
experience, they have no regrets, and they'll cone

back anytinme that they want to kind of participate
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wi th us again.

RYAN J. FITTS: And, you know, |I'ma dad, and
| love taking nmy kids to ganmes. |'man alumi -- a
[i ndi scerni ble] alumi of [indiscernible]
university. | go a couple of tinmes every year to
t he basketball gane.

And, you know, the one thing that resale
does, resellers/resell marketplace, is we provide
access.

So, you know, | nean, the New York Attorney
Ceneral reports that nore than half of the tickets
aren't being offered to the public.

So, you know, we provide people with a way to
access. Like, we don't hold anything back. Al of
our inventory is there, it's available, and we're an
equal i zer.

JASON BERGER:  Senator Skoufis, if | could
just chime in.

| want to echo what Laura Dool ey and
Ryan Fitts said, but also want to go back to

sonmet hing that the Tines Union Center, Bob Bel ber,

said earlier, which is, you know, it -- it is a
finite resource. And it does becone -- and | --
| do have enpathy, first of all, first and forenost,

100 percent, | have enpathy for, everyone wants to
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be in the front row for a Bruce Springsteen concert,
or whatever their -- their -- their perforner.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: | think there are plenty of
peopl e who woul d be content in the back row of a
Bruce Springsteen concert, but the back row m ght be
goi ng for hundreds of dollars.

And that's where that sort of cones from

JASON BERGER: Yeah

| think there's two things that go into that.

The first thing is, and as Laura and Ryan
said, the fact that there is a transparent and safe
mar ket pl ace for themto purchase, and know t hat
they're actually getting what they buy, that's a
very big thing because, when the black narket was in
effect, which is what the Tinmes Union Center
referenced, which is true, before the law, before
there was a nmarketplace in New York, people would go
to the bl ack market.

W would -- there was tons of conplaints.
And people woul d be going to Craigslist, and
out-of -state conpanies, and it was -- it didn't work
wel | for consuners.

That's the first thing.

And the second thing is, also, in terns of

transparency, we -- | support, | think we all
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support, a better law, and a better way for fans to
know what they're buying, and how they're getting
their tickets.

| actually, recently, when we were trying to
get the COVID vaccine, you go online into New York
State, and it tells you, there's 14 appointnents
avai lable. And you're trying to get that one
appoi ntment, and you say, Geat. Ckay, | got ny
appoint. There was 14 avail abl e.

But when | see a thing that says there's
one appoi ntnment available, |1'mnot going to spend
20 minutes trying to get that one appoi nt ment.

The reason | bring that up is that, that
actual nethodology is used in other countries for
ticket -- for ticket sales.

So when tickets go on sale, it will say,
there's X nunber of tickets in this block, in the
Price Level 1; this nunber of tickets in Price
Level 2.

And t hat nunber starts dimnishing as the
ti me goes on.

It goes on sale at 9:00.

By 9:05, there's nothing in Block 1. There's
hal f the tickets in Block 2.

And you can start tenpering your expectation,
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and say, You know what? |I'mnot going to try this
anynor e.

So the idea, | think, is that it would be
better to have a better way for consunmers to have a
better expectation of what they're getting out of
live entertainnment, both in the primary and the
secondary market .

SENATOR SKOUFI S:  Ckay.

DONALD VACARRO  Senat or Skoufis, if you
woul dn't mnd nme just chimng in.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S:  Sure.

DONALD VACARRO  And |'Il enphasis that we
all enpathy for folks like that.

But there is one way to address your concern,
which a | ot of fol ks have actually brought up; and
now t hat way woul d be, and you hit the nail on the
head before, with the hol dbacks to credit card
compani es.

There's sone credit card conpani es who only
sell those tickets to the top echelon of the public.

And now we're talking, and it's astrononi cal,
about how -- how honpbgenous that crowd is.

And I"'msorry, I"'mthe Wite male, it's for
me, it is, it is what it is, that we get those

advant ages because we have that noney.
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And t hese are publicly-financed buil di ngs.

| mean, | saw sone of the tax credits that,
like, in New York, that was the Presidentia
Candi date Yang that was railing against themthe
ot her day. That one thing, he was getting huge tax
credits in New York, and not even nmaking the tickets
avai l able to the public.

So | think one way to do that is with the
whol e back thing. But

SENATCOR SKOUFI' S:  Ti cketmaster clai ned that
it's only about 5 to 10 percent of tickets that are
hel d back.

You di sagree?

DONALD VACARRO kay. See -- | absolutely
di sagr ee.

And I'lIl share with you, too, to M. Hoover's
coment, fromthe Shubert -- The Shubert
Organi zation runs a much different thing -- okay? --

a much di fferent program

There's not that many real conplaints about
theater in proportion to concerts.

So concerts are the big problem Ckay?

They don't consider -- sonetinmes they do,
sonmetimes they don't, sales for these thousands of

tickets that they hold back for these credit card
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conpani es, they don't consider those hol dbacks.

Sonetimes they don't consider the thousands
of tickets that a venue has for its staff,
hol dbacks.

So, yes, | absolutely disagree about the
nunber of concert hol dbacks, and it's a little bit
different fromny angle, because we are also a
concert pronoter too.

| also have a small primary ticket operator,
a smaller -- small primary ticket software.

So | see fromthe other side what people do.

| see why pronoters hold back

Promoters hold back to create a scarcity, and
drive the ticket price up, to mslead consuners
about the anpunt of tickets avail able.

And, legislatively, in certain states,
| egi sl atures have -- has taken action on -- on
products where either the manufacturer or the retai
outl et says they have a product avail able, but
didn't have a sufficient enough quantity to neet
demand.

There used to be those old newspaper flyers,
when we used to read the newspaper 20 years ago.
You know, when a big chain store would have this

TV on sale for $49, well, they had one per store,
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and they just used it to drive people in. You know?
SENATOR SKOUFI'S:  Right, right.
Hey, thank you for that.

And so in the interest of tine, | just want

yes" or "no" fromeach of you on a couple of sort
of |ightning-round questions here.

So, in light of what | just heard, yes or no,
do you believe that we should either be barring or,
at a mnimm strictly limting hol dbacks --

DONALD VACARRO.  Yes.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S:  -- in New York State?

DONALD VACARRO O disposing it.

Yes.

LAURA DOOLEY: | think we would suggest, we
shoul d be transparent about it, but allow the
practice to happen, as long it's, certainly, you
know, available to the custonmer to digest.

RYAN J. FITTS: Disclosure is a key piece of
t he supply and denand.

JASON BERCER: | actually have a -- |I'm
sorry, | can't answer yes or no.
| have an idea, though
| f Ticketmaster is saying it's usually

5 percent, maybe disclose it if it's about

10 percent, automatically disclose it, because then
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| think people would have an idea that this is the
nunmber of tickets that are held back for that

Justin Bieber concert exanple, which happens | think
a lot nore frequently than we all think

SENATOR SKOUFI' S:  Uh- huh.  Ckay.

DONALD VACARRO  You know, just to add on to
Jason's thing, Senator Skoufis, and | hate to do it,
technologically, it's sinple to do.

This is probably one of the nost sinple
things in the world for a primary vendor to do
t echnol ogi cal | y.

You just have to say: Here's the status of
the tickets.

It's very, very sinple.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S:  Ri ght.

And | guess, you know, this is a two-parter:

So, yes or no, do you all engage in
specul ative ticket sal es?

And, yes or no, do you believe that we should
be banni ng specul ative ticket sales in New York?

RYAN J. FITTS: W have zero tol erance for
undi scl osed specul ative ticket sal es.

W think that the New York | aw was wel |
considered in 2018.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S:  Yes, the 2018 | aw j ust
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speaks to disclosure, correct.

l"'m you know -- so, (a) do you engage in it
at all, even if it's disclosed? (b) do you think
that the 2018 | aw shoul d take the next step forward,
if you will, and prohibit the practice?

RYAN J. FITTS: Yeah, | mean, our -- our --
we have a zone programthat sells tickets, that are
guaranteed to a particular section. W carefully
vet those participants, and we only allow a certain
subset.

And that programis, of course, conpliant

with New York law, and so [indiscernible].

DONALD VACARRO | guess | woul d say,
generally, | agree with what Ryan has said.
| think, the disclosure, | actually think

it's a good provision in the law. And | think
everyone adhere to it. | think the custonmers see
t ransparency.

And, as far as the practice, wth whatever
you consider them yes, it's good, because it
i ncreases the supply, it lowers the equilibrium
pri ce.

JASON BERCER: | would say, we do
participate, and we actually tell consunmers that we

are preselling.
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And people do conme to us and ask us to help
themw th presale -- help themw th inventory that
is not available in the nmarketpl ace.

How can you find this ticket for us for the
Super Bow ?

The tickets are not released until two weeks
bef ore.

Can you help us obtain tickets for an
overseas match that's not avail abl e?

So as long as there's disclosure, | think
it's inmportant to have that ability for consumners,
because limted supply in the marketplace drives
prices up.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: Don't you think that, you
know, the practice gives a |leg up to higher-end
consuners who have the wherewithal to go through a
br oker ?

You know, the average consuner is |ikely not
trying to get a hot ticket through a broker.
They're trying to get it through sort of the
traditional neans of the primry marketpl ace.

And so what you're describing, M. Berger, is
sort of an add-value -- or, value added, | should
say, that you're able to provide, that is not

readily available to, you know, probably 98 percent
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of fans. Fair?

JASON BERCER: | actually see it a little
differently.

| see it, that increased supply decreases
prices.

So | don't necessarily see it the sane way,
that only a specific percentage of clients can
participate, and buy a ticket for an event.

Zone pricing is available on a | ot of
mar ket pl aces, and it hel ps consunmers when there's
not hi ng avai l abl e.

There's also the -- you know, when there's --
when there's nothing available, I think that zone
pricing hel ps.

In other countries, it's -- that's how a | ot
of tickets are sold, and it drives prices down.

So | do actually believe it's, increased
supply decreases prices.

SENATOR SKOUFI S:  Ckay.

And, Ms. Dool ey?

LAURA DOOLEY: Yeah, | would align with what
we' ve heard here.

Certainly supportive of the existing |aw

Certainly supportive of continuing the

conversation to tighten it where it needs to be
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ti ght ened.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S:  Ckay. Very good.

You're all off the hot seats.

Thank you very much for your participation.

You gave some great incite, and we're
grateful for it.

So, thank you, and we'll be in touch with
you.

(AI'l panel participants say "Thank you.")

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: Ckay. And we're up to our
finale, our fourth panel.

We have, John Breyault, vice president -
public policy, telecommunications, and fraud, from
t he National Consumers League;

We have, from Consuner Reports, Anna Laitin,
director of financial fairness and |egislative
strategy;

From Net Choi ce, Carl Szabo, vice president
and general counsel;

And from Sports Fans Coalition, Brian Hess,
executive director.

Wel corme, everybody.

JOHN BREYAULT: Thank you.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: M. Breyault, do you want

to go first?
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JOHN BREYAULT: Sure. Thank you.

Good afternoon, Chairman Skoufis,

Chai rwonman Kapl an, and nmenbers of the conmttee.

My name is John Breyault, and |I'mthe
vi ce president of public policy, telecomunications,
and fraud for the National Consuners League,
America' s pioneering consuner-advocacy organi zati on.

| appreciate this opportunity to appear
before the commttee, and provide testinony in
support of your investigation of the |live-event
ticketing industry.

My testinmony today will focus on two of the
areas where you have an opportunity to address --
to strengthen consuner protections in the
i ndustry: ticket hol dbacks and ticket-buyi ng bots.

First, hol dbacks, al so known as

"allocations,” are one of the dirty little secrets
of the live-event industry.

As the 2016 report by the New York Attorney's
Ceneral's Ofice -- New York Attorney General's
O fice found, only 46 percent of tickets to popul ar
events, on average, are ever nade available to the
general public.

Those findings were recently corroborated by

a 2020 audit by the Honolulu Cty Council, which
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found that pronoter and venue hol dbacks were the
primary reasons that consumers could not access
tickets to events there.

I nstead of tickets being nmade available to
t he general public, they are diverted to connected
i nsider groups, like fan clubs, credit card rewards
programs, artists, venues, and pronoters, who often
work with brokers to increase their profits by
reselling tickets on the secondary market at
inflated prices.

To be clear, we do not oppose hol dbacks in
pri nci pl e.

Primary ticketers, whether they be
Ti cket master or box offices, artists and concert
pronoters, they should be free to distribute their
tickets as they see fit.

However, we believe it is an unfair and
deceptive practice to advertise an event, |ead
custoners to believe they have a reasonabl e chance
of getting a seat at face value, trunpet the
artificially engineered quick sellouts, and then
point the finger and bl ame at the secondary narket,
or even fans thensel ves, when tickets are scarce.

The best antidote to ticket-hol dback

practices -- to deceptive ticket-hol dback practices
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is nore transparency.

We support legislation requiring primary
ticket sellers to disclose on their websites, and at
the box office, the total nunber of tickets to be
made available to the general public no | ess than
seven days prior to the date on which tickets go on
sal e.

The second issue ny testinmony will address
today is the use of ticket bots by unscrupul ous
ticket brokers.

Ti cket bots are sophisticated prograns used
to electronically junp the Iine to buy hundreds or
t housands of tickets in a matter of seconds. Those
tickets are then resold on the secondary market,
typically, at greatly inflated prices.

To address this, New York shoul d take steps
to address -- sorry -- to increase penalties for
violation of its existing anti-bot statute.

We al so urge you to pass |egislation,
requiring entities, such as prinmary ticketers,
venues, pronoters, or other actors in the |ive-event
ecosystem who have know edge of illegal bot use to
report such activity to the attorney general's
of fice.

Senat or Skoufis, | believe you were getting
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at this earlier in your line of questioning to
M. Marcus from Ti cket naster.

Finally, in addition to our recomendati ons
regardi ng ticket hol dbacks and ticket bots, we
support many of the other conprehensive sol utions
| anticipate you will hear from our coll eague
or gani zati ons today, such as prohibiting undiscl osed
specul ative ticketing, reigning in drip pricing,
prohi biting white-label ticket websites that defraud
fans, requiring refunds for cancel ed or reschedul ed
events, and requiring ticket sellers to provide
toll-free nunbers for customer support.

Chai rman Skoufis, Chairwoman Kapl an, thank
you for giving the National Consuners League the
opportunity to provide testinony on this inportant
i ssue.

We | ook forward to answering any questions
that you or other nmenbers of the commttee nay have.
SENATOR SKOUFI' S: Thank you very much

Next we'll hear from Ms. Laitin.

ANNA LAITIN. Thank you, Chair Skoufis and
Chai r Kapl an, ranking nmenmbers, and di stingui shed
menbers of both conmittees for inviting
Consuner Reports to testify at this inportant

heari ng.
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My name is Anna Laitin, and |I'mthe director
of financial fairness and |egislative strategy at
Consuner Reports, based in Yonkers.

This hearing is taking place at a unique

As the worst of the pandem c appears to be
behind us, artists, venues, and fans are all hopeful
that we will be able to attend live events and share
experiences again.

But we urge you to ensure that we do so in a
mar ket pl ace that works for consuners, one that
el imnates unfair and deceptive practices that
target ticket buyers.

As you well know, Americans have | ong
expressed frustration with online ticketing.

In 2018 Consuner Reports reached out to our
menbers, asking themto share stories about
ticketing and ticket fees. And nore than
6600 consuners, including nore than 500 New Yorkers,
wr ot e back.

Many gave concrete exanples of frustrations
wi th hidden fees, raising the price of a ticket well
beyond what the individual had understood to be the
price; with bait-and-switch tactics that |eft them

uncertain about what they had bought, and whet her




© 00 ~N oo o b~ w N P

N NN N NN P R PR R R R R R R
gag A W N P O © 0o N oo 0o M W N -+ O

175

the tickets were even legitimate; and with the
opaque operations of the secondary ticket narket.

It becanme clear fromthese stories that the
online event-ticketing nmarketplace is not
transparent. It does not operate in a nmanner that
enabl es consuners to nmake i nformed purchase choi ces.
Hi dden fees can increase the price of a ticket by as
much as 30 to 40 percent, and consuners find
t hensel ves spendi ng nore than they intended in order
to buy tickets, or they sinply back out and deci de
not to bother with attending an event that they
cannot af f ord.

The ticket sellers know what they are doing
when they set their prices in this way.

I n Decenber 2016 the National Econom c
Council issued a report, "The Conpetition Initiative

and Hi dden Fees,"™ which notes that these fees are

generally structured as they are, quote, in order to

drive down the perceived price, and | ure consumers

t o make purchasi ng deci sions based on i nfornmation.
Go on to say, that these fees are, at worst,

guot e, fraudul ent or deceptive. At a mninmm they

make prices unclear, hinder effective consumer

deci si on-maki ng, and dull the conpetitive process.

New York has taken steps to protect consumers
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inits marketplace with the enactnent of |aws
requiring transparency disclosures, as well as by
prohi biting the nost egregi ous white-label websites
that fool consuners into thinking that they are
buying fromthe venues.

These protections have nade a difference, and
Consuner Reports urges you to renew these expiring
protections, but we also urge to you take additi onal
st eps.

| use ny time today to urge you to ban hi dden
fees and require all end pricing for all tickets.

If a fee is certain to be charged to a
consuner in order for that consuner to receive a
ticket, that fee should be included in the base
advertised rate. It is a sinple straightforward
change that woul d i nprove consuner wel fare.

The ticket sellers have nade clear that this
is not a change that they will nake on their own
absent a nandate.

You have the opportunity to set that mandate.

Thank you, and | | ook forward to your
guesti ons.

SENATOR SKOUFI' S:  Thank you very much

We' || next hear from Carl Szabo, Net Choi ce.

Vel cone.
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CARL SZABO  Good afternoon.

My name is Carl Szabo. |'mvice president
and general counsel of NetChoice. |'malso an
adj unct professor at the George Mason Law School

Now, we've heard a | ot about the problens in
the ticketing market.

And one of the things | always |ook for is,
what is the root cause?

And | was | ooking around on the Internet, and
| was just curious to see how nmuch the COVID
out break has inpacted the events market and the
ti cket market.

And, it's hit everyone hard, except for one
conpany in particular: Live Nation.

Live Nation's stock price today is not only
hi gher than it was before the pandem c started a
year ago, it's the highest in its history.

And why is that?

Well, we have to unpack the onion and | ook at
t he root cause.

But before we junp into that, I'mgoing to
ask that we do three inportant things.

One, renew the existing New York Consuner
Protection Law

Two, require transparency on how many tickets
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are avail abl e;

And, three, encourage your state AGto
investigate the antitrust violations of Ticketnaster
and its parent conpany, Live Nation.

Now, we heard, well, if we just give people
transparency, it's not going to change consumner
buyi ng habits.

So, really, there's no |ogical reason why you
shoul dn't disclose it.

It's kind of like nmy kids hol di ng sonet hi ng
behi nd their backs, and saying, Ch, don't worry,
dad. [It's nothing bad.

Should | believe ny kids?

Probably not.

If it's nothing bad, showit to ne.

One of the things that is also worth
analyzing is the antitrust violations by
Ti cket master and Live Nation.

Now, | spent an inordinate anmount of tine
dealing with [indiscernible].

Under today's |aws, the Suprene Court has
never found an antitrust violation when the
controller has less than 75 percent of market.

But you heard from Ti cket mast er today that

t hey represent 80 percent of the primary ticket
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sales in the U S., well above the Suprene Court
t hr eshol d.

But Ticketmaster isn't just the ticket
i ssuer. They conpl ai ned about howit's the artists
and venues that are causing themto adjust the
tickets. But their parent company, Live Nation, is
the | ead pronoter.

So that's the artists that they work wth,

t hrough Live Nation, setting the prices that
Ti cket master sells.

And, by the way, Live Nation and Ti cket naster
own dozens of venues across the country.

So if the conplaints are the artists and the
venues, they're really conplaining about their own
ticketing practices.

You now see Ticketmaster using their size and
control to seize control of the secondary narket.

You' ve heard themtal k about creating pricing
nodel s that increase their service fees and prices.

| mean, this is a slamdunk case on
antitrust.

And that's why | amexcited to see
Chai rman Nadl er and several nenbers of the
U. S. House of Representatives, including

Representative Pascrell, ask the Departnent of
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Justice and FTC to enforce agai nst this nonopoly.

Your state AG could take simlar steps.

Now, the inmportant thing is also on
transferability.

States are running to catch up with
New York's transferability |aws.

Today, Col orado, Utah, Virginia, Connecticut
have caught up to New York

New York should continue to | ead the way, and
gi ve consuners the protections that they deserve.

SENATOR SKOUFI' S:  Thank you very much

Last, but not |east, we'll hear from
Bri an Hess, Sports Fans Coalition.

Vel cone.

BRI AN HESS: Thank you, Chairman Skoufis, and
menbers of the committees.

|'mBrian Hess. |'mthe executive director
of Sports Fans Coalition.

SFC was founded in 2009, and we're a nati onal
nonprofit advocacy group devoted to representing
fans wherever public policy inpacts the games we
| ove.

New York tickets resale | aws are strong,
pronote conpetition, and they' re good for the

consuner.
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| f the New York Senate were to do anything
followi ng today's hearing, it should extend the
sunsetting provisions, preferably indefinitely.

Today | will focus on a few areas of public
policy that inpact the ticket-buying consuners,
protecting transferability, price controls that harm
fans, white-label websites, and requiring
affordability of primary tickets for tax-funded
venues as a good idea for consuners.

Transferability must be the cornerstone of
any pro-consuner ticketing | aw.

As the industry's dom nant primary ticketer,
Ti cketmaster's enbrace of nontransferable ticketing
practices does nothing nore than to create burdens
for consuners, limting the ability for fans to
transfer, give away, or resell their tickets that
have been rightfully purchased.

It is also highly anticonpetitive.

The consumer groups in this panel aren't
alone in this concern.

This week Chairman Jerry Nadl er and four
ot her congressnen sent letters to the DQJ and FTC,
asking themto open an investigation into
Ti cketmaster and Live Nation for all of the

anticonpetitive practices they engage in.
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| would Iike to quote fromthat letter.

“"Not satisfied with its near nonopoly of the
primary sale of tickets, Live Nation Entertai nment
has tightened its grasp on the secondary nmarket,
making it one of the largest ticket resellers in the
United States.

"The conpany is now |l everaging its position
in the primary channel, to drive out conpetition in
the resale market, and allowing for, potentially,
unfair and deceptive practices.”

Wil e Ticketmaster clainms their barriers
prevent ticket scal ping, they are often designed to
control resale and ensure it occurs on platfornms
aligned with the primary ticketing conpany.

Desi gnat ed resal e exchanges al | ow
Ti cketmaster to double-dip the fees on both their
initial sale of the ticket and secondary sal e.

Despite clainms that these restrictions
protect consumers, they do the exact opposite.

| urge the committee to protect New York's
right to transfer in any legislation that it
consi ders.

Buying tickets is also an investnment in
f andom

When the ticket is to a single gane or an
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entire season, a fair and open ticket narket spurs
i nvest ment anong the fan base.

To restrict the cost of that secondary ticket
site stifles that investnent.

If I'"'ma season ticket holder in the Yankees,
and | want to sell ny ticket to the Red Sox ganes,
to either recoup ny costs for the package, pay an
unexpected nedical bill or a parking ticket, or
anyt hing, | should have the right to do so.

Stifling that does little to stop bad actors
who will just go to other platforns, or back on the
street corners, and they will always find a way to
skirt the |aw.

Sports Fans Coalition advocates agai nst any
| egislation or regulation that attenpts to contro
ticket prices artificially.

Lastly, many ot her people today have tal ked
about white-|abel ticket sites and how t hey defraud
fans by using simlar iconography, URLS, nanes.

So |l won't dive in too deeply on that, but
New York has | ead the nation in prohibiting this
practice.

To stop that today, or this year, would
really hurt the industry efforts that have been --

coi ncide by state regul ati ons, and conpani es, such
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as Google's ad word policy, that have largely
addressed the practice, though it still
proliferates.

| see ny tinme has expired, and so | wll

SENATOR SKQOUFI' S:  Thank you.

|"msure there will be nore opportunity to
fl esh out your renmaining comments as we go to
guesti ons now.

So a conmon thenme from many of you in your
testinmony was the need for additional disclosure.
And | think you'll find few, if any,
argunment s agai nst that anongst our two conmittees

here.

| guess ny question is:

Is it enough -- you know, if you have a bad
practice, or, an unsavory practice nmaybe is a better
characterizing, |ike hol dbacks -- excessive
hol dbacks -- M. Breyault, | think you described it
as the industry's dirty little secret -- is it
enough to just -- to just require stakeholders to
| et the public know, hey, we are engaged in these
bad practices? O, should we be taking the next
step in regulating those bad practices?

Do any of you, do all of you, think that we

shoul d not just disclose the fact that these
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hol dbacks are taking place, and | ocking average
New Yor kers out of events?

Do you think we should be Iimting, or
per haps even banni ng hol dbacks here in New York
State, as we | ook at potential future refornms?

JOHN BREYAULT: Senator Skoufis, thank you
for that question.

From NCL's point of view, we don't believe
t hat banni ng hol dbacks is appropriate at this tine.

However, | think | share your desire that
t hey woul d hol d back fewer tickets, and nmake nore
tickets available to the general public at face
val ue.

And | think transparency would start to get
us there.

| think that artists, in particular, value
the relationship that they have with their fans
And they don't want to be seen as -- as bidding --
selling off their tickets to the highest bidder;
giving themto connected insiders; only the people
who have the super-Plati num Ameri can Express card
can get access to our pre-sales.

But the fact that they can get away with
that, or that venues or pronobters can get away on

their behalf, or on the side, in this opaque system
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where so many tickets are held back from genera
resal e, that nmeans that they can get away with that
wi t hout repercussions or any kind of consuner

know edge.

| think consunmers armed with the information
that they would get from hol dbacks -- from
transparency and hol dbacks woul d actual | y decrease
the incentive to hold back tickets in the first
pl ace.

And so | often tal k about the harmthat cones
to consuners from undi scl osed hol dbacks in
four ways, and | hope you'll excuse nme for going
down the |ist.

But, first, consumers waste tine.

Wien I"monline at 10 a.m on a Saturday
trying to get tickets, when | think that there may
be, you know, nost of the tickets of the 20, 000-seat
Madi son Square Garden are available. But, in fact,
if there are only a very small percentage that are
avai l able, then | m ght not have wasted that tine.

Nurmber two, when tickets to Justin Bieber
sell out in 30 seconds for MSG then | think it's a
hot ticket.

"1l go to secondary market, and |'l|l see a

price for tickets there and think, that's the market
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price for that ticket, and | nmay even pay it.

In fact, as | think M. Vacarro alluded to
earlier, that price may only reflect
artificially-engineered ticket scarcity.

Nunber three is, when a consuner pays that
price, we -- it's often seen that the tickets wll
be made -- nore tickets will be nade avail abl e
closer to the date of the event at face val ue.

So now a consuner has paid above face for
tickets they could have gotten for face value in the
first place.

So | think for all of those reasons, this is
a practice that would benefit from nore
t ransparency.

| f a consunmer knew, for exanple, that they
only had a shot at 10 percent of the tickets for
Justin Bieber at MSG they probably woul dn't waste
their tine.

|f they went to StubHub or Vivid or one of
the other resellers that was testifying before us,
and said, Oh, | see these tickets are on sale for
three or four times face. But | know that there's
still thousands of tickets out there, unaccounted
for, they nmay wait.

M. Marcus tal ked earlier about sort of
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that spike in the first 12 to 24 hours of demand,
foll owed by a decrease.

| f consuners knew how many tickets were out
there, they nmay be able to nmake the decision to
purchase that ticket further on down that curve,
closer to the date of the show.

SENATOR SKOUFI' S:  Sure.

JOHN BREYAULT: So | think all of those ways
woul d benefit consunmers for nore transparency.

SENATOR SKOUFI' S:  Yeah, very good. Thank
you.

In the interest of tinme, does anyone have the
opi nion that we should be considering steps beyond
transparency, or do you all agree that that is the

sol uti on here?

CARL SZABO | think transparency is a
good - -
[ Si mul t aneous speakers; indiscernible.]
CARL SZABO -- yeah, transparency is a great
start.
| think, that, coupled w th naintaining
transferability, will let us better understand how

t he mar ket operates.
And, frankly, it nmay stop the idea of bots,

because now you know how many tickets were
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avai l able, if they were grabbed by humans, or were

t hey grabbed by -- or were they never available to
begin with?

BRIAN HESS: | agree with M. Breyault and
M. Szabo.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: M. Laitin, do you agree

wi th [sinmultaneous speakers; indiscernible] --

ANNA LAITIN. | agree as well.
SENATOR SKOUFI'S:  -- yeah.
kay. G eat.

Senat or Kapl an, do you have anyt hi ng?

SENATOR KAPLAN:  Yes.

So this is to anyone who wants to take the
guesti on.

If ticket sellers were required to disclose
the total ticket price, including fees, up front,
al so known as "all-in pricing," and not at the end
of that purchase when fees are usually added, how do
you think this would inpact consuner purchasing
habi t s?

CARL SZABO  So, Senator --

[ Si mul t aneous speakers; indiscernible] --

CARL SZABO  -- oh.

Go ahead, pl ease.

ANNA LAITIN.  1'Il just take a little bit,
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and then turn to Carl.

| think it would dramatically inprove
consuner wel fare.

What we hear from consunmers is that they
choose tickets based on the price they see, and are
consistently surprised by the increased price.

If it's a highly in-demand concert, or other
event, they nmay feel trapped.

| f they go backwards, they may not be able to
choose the cheaper ticket; they m ght not have tine
if the tickets have sold out.

So buy a ticket they can't afford, or sinply
not go to concert.

What we have heard fromthe industry
repeatedly is that there's a conpetitive
di sadvantage to themfor doing it on their own.

This is one of those things that does require
government al acti on.

They will not do it on their own; they'll be
at a conpetitive disadvantage.

But if all of themare required to do it,
then it would be a nore fair marketplace, and
consuners woul d understand what they're getting.

SENATOR KAPLAN: Levels the playing field for

all of them
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CARL SZABO So one of the things that you'l
likely see is an initial dip in purchasing, just
because people will be surprised. But then they'll
become accustoned to it.

One of the things that we've seenis, this is
not limted just to the ticket markets. This is in
al | aspects.

W see it in, for exanple, hotels.

You get to the hotel, and they say, Oh, we
have sonething called a "resort fee" that you now
have to pay that you're here.

Can | not take the resort fee?

No.

So we see this in nmany different markets.

| think getting the idea out front is
i mportant, but as was noted, this has to be done
across the board, because you do see sonme busi nesses
stepping up and saying, we are going to nmake this
di scl osure avail abl e.

But by the sane token, they're conpeting with
peopl e who only show you the final all-in price at
t he end.

This should apply not only for second
secondary ticket sellers, but primary ticket sellers

as well, because if I'mlooking at prices on, for
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exanpl e, Ticketrmaster -- it seens to be one of the
only places to find anything -- then | need to know,
should I line up virtually; or, am| going save

about $50 for a famly of four by just going to the
box office?

JOHN BREYAULT: And, Senator Kaplan, if | may
add to what ny col |l eagues have said, such a
requirenent for all-in pricing is not unprecedented
in the industry.

If you look at, for exanple, airline tickets,
airlines are currently required, under federal
regul ation, to advertise the full fare. So that is
the cost of the ticket plus all ancillary fees that
are required.

So this is something that New York woul d not
be sort of going outside the mainstreamto require
such all-in pricing.

And | think, as others have alluded to,
you' ve been the | eader on things |like
transparency -- sorry -- transferability, on
anti-bot practices.

So | think it would continue your state's
| eadership to require all-in pricing for tickets.

SENATOR KAPLAN: I n your experiences, does

t he establishnment of price floors negatively inpact
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consuners in multiple ways?

For exanple, late in a sports' team season
the team-- one teamis playing really poorly, and
the original ticket holder doesn't want to go to the
ganme, and just wants to offload their ticket.

A consurer who usually cannot afford a gane,
they want to go and catch a gane. |It's priced at
the right nunber for him and he would enjoy it.

So won't pay face for it, but would like to
purchase it.

Are they getting a deal ?

BRIAN HESS: So with price floors, in
particular, the New York Attorney Ceneral found a
few years ago that it was anticonpetitive; |aunched
an investigation into the NFL and their designated
resal e exchange that put this kind of price floor
onto the ticket.

And they found it does artificially -- it
does hurt consuners by artificially raising the
price, actually.

So we woul d definitely recomend agai nst
allowing for price floors, or, you know, any kind of
price controls, for that matter, because we do find
that it ends up hurting the fan nore in the |ong

run.
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CARL SZABO  Senator, could you inagine price
floors at a yard sal e?

| nmean, it violates our notion of two-party
transactions, where | want to sell it at a price
that's fair to ne and you want to buy it at a price
that's fair to you.

You go to a yard sale, and you go to buy a
used up fold-up chair, and, suddenly, you have to
pay $20 because the conpany who made the fol d-up
chair put a price floor on it.

It's an absurd rule, and it's bad for
everyone.

SENATOR KAPLAN:.  Thank you.

| " m good, Senator Skoufis.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: GCh, okay. Thank you.

Let ne see if there is anyone el se.

"1l junmp in, | don't see any other hands.

"1l ask the sane yes-or-no question of each
of you that | asked the |ast panel.

We have -- we have discl osure requirenents
related to specul ative ticketing here in New York
as of 2018.

Do you believe that the practice should exist
at all?

Shoul d we ban specul ative tickets; yes or no?
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CARL SZABO  Wien you don't have a
contractual right to those tickets, yes.

The risk is, however, if, for exanple, | have
a full season of tickets that | have al ready
pre-ordered, and you don't yet have those tickets in
hand, that, then, yes, you should be able to give
away those tickets if you know you're not going to
be able to nake the gane six nonths down the road.

But, overall, if you don't a license -- or,
right to those tickets, then | think that's a
reasonabl e step.

BRI AN HESS: Agr eed.

A lot of the specul ative |anguage that we end
up seeing in draft form that prohibits specul ative
ticketing, ends up accidentally incorporating sport
season ticket hol der.

You know, | have season tickets to the
Washi ngton Nationals, and so | know that |'m goi ng
to have a gane on May 11th that | can go to. Right?

Even though | don't physically have that
ticket in ny hand yet, but I knowit's com ng,
| should be able to resell that if | wanted to, or
transfer it however | wanted to.

That should not -- if you were witing any

ki nd of spec ban, you need to make sure that you
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i nclude that season ticket holders are not counted
in that real mof specul ation.

SENATCR SKOUFI S:  But save for season
tickets, your organi zation woul d be supportive of
t he ban?

BRI AN HESS: Yes. | do not support
specul ative ticketing if | don't have the know edge
that 1| will be receiving that ticket in the near
future, that | can then pass off to --

SENATOR SKOUFI S:  Ckay.

JOHN BREYAULT: Senator Skoufis, from our
poi nt of view, we don't believe that specul ative
ti cketing has val ue for consuners.

And what we would also say is, that if you
were to ban specul ative ticketing, the way | woul d
|l ook at this, is to ban it prior to the public
on-sal e.

What we saw at places |ike the FTC s
ticketing workshop a couple of years ago, was where
consuners and venues were seeing tickets go on sale
before they were even on sale at the box office.

That presents a very great danger, that a
consuner woul d be confused, and purchase a ticket
that they think is actually a real ticket, when, in

fact, it's just a speculative ticket, even with the
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di scl osures that are currently required.

So | think if you're |looking to ban
specul ative ticketing, | would focus on specul ative
ticketing that may occur before the public on-sale.

SENATOR SKOUFI S:  Ckay.

ANNA LAITIN. | agree alnost entirely.

| think we have seen sone exanpl es, where
tickets were already on sale, and white-label sites
were selling speculative tickets when, they did not
own the ticket, they did not have the ticket, but
tickets were still available at the venue.

So | think there are -- it's -- specul ative
tickets are a huge problem There do need to be
some carve-outs for things -- for things |ike season
tickets, and, potentially, other elenents.

But, yes, agree that they -- a ban is
appropri ate.

SENATOR SKOUFI S:  Ckay.

Thank you.

| want to tal k, you know, there's been sone
di scussion with this panel, about the perceived
nmonopol y of Ticketmaster in the prinmary market.

And short of -- | guess ny question is, short
of regulators, or prosecutors, comng in and

breaki ng up the nonopoly, are there any steps that
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we as a legislature can take to inject better
conpetition in the primary nmarket here in New York?

For exanple, one idea that cones to m nd,
shoul d we bar these exclusivity arrangenents between
Ti cket master and event organi zers, venues?

Shoul d there not be exclusivity allowed?

Per haps a nore radical idea: Should there
be, effectively -- if there is no way to inject nore
private conpetition, because Ticketnmaster has just
taken it over alnost conpletely, should there be a
public option when it cones to the primary market?

You know, perhaps it's, again, a little bit
out of left field.

But, what can we do to address the
anticonpetitive existing nature of the primary
mar ket pl ace?

CARL SZABO  Senator Skoufis, | think the
first thing that you can do, is to reauthorize the
exi sting | aw, because one of the things that you are
very likely to see --

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: Transferability,
under st ood.

CARL SZABO -- transferability, number one,
because they' re going to extend their vertical

nmerger into a horizontal nerger and take over
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secondary narkets.

Second step could be in the vein of
sel f - deal i ng.

Now, one of the challenges that we're seeing
is, because there is a vertical nonopoly between
Li ve Nation and Ticketnaster being the same conpany,
with the artists, the venues, and the ticket --
primary ticket sellers, there mght be a way to
wite in requirenments to prohibit the internal
self-dealing within that vertical infrastructure.

So, for exanple, if Live Nation owns the
venue, and owns the artist, they can't then tell the
artist, you have to use Ticketnaster.

SENATOR SKOUFI' S:  Thank you.

Anyone el se?

JOHN BREYAULT: Senator Skoufis, we opposed
the Ticketnaster-Live Nation merger back in 2009.
We thought it was a bad idea for all the reasons
that Carl just el aborated on.

| think we've been proven right.

Even the assistant attorney general for
antitrust who reviewed the nerger has said that he
t hi nks that that consent order did not inprove
conpetition.

So we woul d be supportive of steps that
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New York woul d take, either regulatory, through
regul ation or legislation, to inject nore
conpetition into this marketpl ace.

CARL SZABO  Senator, may | make one | ast
recomrendat i on?

SENATOR SKOUFI'S:  Sure.

CARL SZABO So one of the things that you
see under a nonopolist is prices either remain the
same or go up, because there's a derth of
conpetition as a fundanmental sign of the existence
of a nonopoly.

Wth respect to Ticketmaster, can anyone on
this panel say that service fees have gone down for
tickets?

No. They've either stayed the sane or
t hey' ve gone up.

That is the sign of nonopolistic control
where conpetition doesn't exist.

So this may get into limtations on the
primary ticket seller's service fees that they can
charge, and availability of other ways to make the
purchase with other services.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S:  Ckay.

Before | continue, Senator Kaplan, do you

have anyt hi ng nore?
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SENATOR KAPLAN: |'m good. Thank you.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: Ckay. Thank you.

"1l keep going, then.

Thanks.

Let's tal k about the service fees.

Should -- you know, we've talked a little bit
about price controlling in the secondary market,
generally. And I'll save -- |1've got a question or
two on that.

But, should there be sone controls within
t hese fees?

JOHN BREYAULT: Senator --

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: Sone -- it appears to ne --
now, nost -- nost primary and secondary platforns do
seemto charge, or develop, their fees as a
percentage of the tickets.

However, that's not across the board.

There are sone platfornms that charge a fl at
fee, which by its very nature is regressive.

However, as | shared in, | think, with the --
with the first panel, with Ticketmaster, an exanple
from you know, a ballgame | |ooked at this norning,
whereby the cheap seats, you know, your fees
anounted to 40 percent of your ticket costs. But

the field-level seats, they were, | think, it was
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only 15 or so percent of your total ticket costs
were the fees.

Shoul d there be sone controls in this area?

ANNA LAITIN.  Well, I"Il junmp in quickly and
say, there's a couple of issues here.

One is, if it's truly a service fee, it
doesn't make sense. If it's an anmount that it costs
to process a ticket, it doesn't nmke sense for it to
a percent age.

Does it make it -- or -- so, one of the
t hi ngs we found, one of the stories that cane into
us, this was froma gentl eman who bought three
tickets fromthe same venue, sane seller, to three
different concerts, and the fee structures were
conpletely different.

So there's no predictability to the fees.

What we have argued for at Consumer Reports
is less focus on the fees thensel ves than the price.

There's a lot of -- there seens to be a | ot
of novenent within the pricing of nmaking the ticket
| ook cheaper, so increasing the service fees.

And we don't know precisely where all those
service fees go.

So the consuner sees one price, and it's the

ticket plus all the fees, and that's all they see.
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W' re | ess concerned about what the -- what
the service fee is as conpared to the price, as |long
as the consuner knows what they're being charged.

And then that can be worked out between the
venue, the seller, the performer, and whoever el se
is getting a piece.

So, now, if there isn't all-in pricing, then
there's a larger call to deal with, sort of,
transparency, visibility, of these fees.

But | don't know that limtations on the fees
is exactly the right way to go.

SENATOR SKOUFI' S:  Thanks.

[ Si mul t aneous speakers; indiscernible] --

CARL SZABO. Go ahead, John.

JOHN BREYAULT: Yeah, | would -- | would --
just to build on what Anna just tal ked about, an
all-in pricing requirement would address the
service-fee issue.

The cost of a ticket is the cost of a ticket,
and artists or theater owners are going to set it
where they want to.

By giving consuners the visibility at the
front end, when that fee -- when they first see the
price of going to that event, whether that fee is

10 percent of the face value, plus 90 percent
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service fees; or 50/50; or sone other conbination,
| don't think consuners really care.

They just want to know how rmuch it's going to
cost to get in the door.

So an all-in pricing requirenment would
address the service-fee issue that you and ot her
menbers of the committee have raised today.

CARL SZABO  Senator, | think service-fee
requi renents are nost inportant when there's no
conpetition in the marketplace. That is where the
service-fee abuse is ripe to occur.

When you have mnultiple secondary platforns on
which to sell, | nean, you heard several different
ones on the prior panel, they're going to fight over
t he sane consumer base. They're going to fight over
service fees, prices, and the like.

What you don't see is the conpetition in the
primary ticket selling, which to nmany of the points
that were just made, | -- it seens incoherent to
have a different price fromthe face value and the
service fee when you're the one printing and handi ng
the ticket at the box office.

That service fee, like all other fees that
you're charging, whether it's cleaning the theater,

setting up the lighting, should all be enconpassed
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in that face val ue.

So when it comes to primary ticket sales, it
doesn't even nmake sense to charge a service fee.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S:  So how woul d you address
t hat ?

Wul d you bar service fees in the prinmary
mar ket pl ace?

CARL SZABO So if you did that, what would
happen is, service fees then just becone the face
val ue.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: Is that what you suggest
happen? O, what's your reconmendation, | guess is
nmy question here?

CARL SZABO | think nmy recommendati on,
especially when it cones to primary ticket sellers,
that they should be required to have all-in pricing.

When it comes to secondary ticket sellers,
one of the challenges that they're going to face is,
they're dealing with venues all across the country.

That's sonething that shoul d be addressed,
and shoul d be done at the federal |evel.

When it comes to a venue in New York, they
know the aws in New York better than al nbst anyone,
because they live there.

When it comes to a service, where you' ve got
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sellers across the country, it's a little different.

So | think it should be addressed, but it
shoul d be addressed at the federal |evel for the
secondary ticket market.

Primary ticket sellers, the all-in pricing
shoul d be when you go and buy the ticket.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S:  Ckay.

Let nme -- unless, Brian, you have anything to
add here, let ne turn to price controls on -- in the
secondary market .

| agree with the sentinent conpletely that we
shared before when it comes to price floors.

So | want to focus on price ceilings.

| know, M. Hess, you -- in your opening
remar ks, you made your position very clear that you
and your organi zation are concerned with that
concept .

If there's nore to add, feel free, but |I'm
interested in, thus, the other three on the panel.

And, you know, | posed this question a couple
of panels ago, and it was nmet with silence, which
was interesting to ne. This was the Broadway panel
and the Tines Union panel.

And the question is: Do you think that the

secondary mar ket pl ace shoul d be conpl etely
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free market, should be conpl etely open-ended; if
there is demand to purchase a ticket that is
100 tinmes the face value, God bless, and have at it?

O, do you think there should be sone
reasonabl e controls, such that the average
New Yor ker who is a working-class person, a
m ddl e-cl ass household, who is, fromtheir
perspective, maybe | ocked out of these hot tickets
because, within 30 seconds, they weren't able to
junp into the primary market for that Justin Bieber
ticket; and, now, by God, you know, if | want to go
to this concert with ny famly, it's, you know,
$500 a ticket, whereas it would have been, you know,
$80 a ticket if I were one of the lucky few that got
in within 30 seconds when it opened up?

Do you think that there should be reasonabl e
controls vis-a-vis a price ceiling?

O, do you think in some ironic way, perhaps
that is anti-consuner?

JOHN BREYAULT: So, Senator Skoufis, 1"l
t ake that one.

You know, | think | share the frustration
that I think you el aborated on, of people who can't
get access to tickets at a fair price.

| know there are nmany shows | would like to
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see, that | just can't afford to go to because ny
budget doesn't allow it.

But price caps is a difficult issue, because
| don't think they work, to be honest with you.

| think what you'll -- what you would see is,
if you put a ceiling on -- on the price of tickets,
either on the primary or the secondary market, is
you woul d see, nunber one, nore tickets go to
unr egul at ed mar ket pl aces.

So the street scal pers, for exanple, where
consuners have no guarantee of a refund if the
ti cket ends up being bogus and doesn't get themin
t he door.

Nunber two, | think you would find the
brokers were very adept at getting around price caps
when they existed in other states in past decades.

They would do things |ike say, okay, the face
val ue of the ticket is $100, the market value is
$500. We're going to sell you a $500 steak dinner,
plus you get this $100 ticket on the side.

So | think they would be adept at getting
around price caps.

| do think that in this case that, for
pricing of the ticket itself, the market seens to be

t he best way to address that.
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So, I -- we would not support price caps.

BRI AN HESS: There are also a |l ot of
i nstances on which you can find a ticket bel ow the
face value on a secondary platform

SENATCOR SKOUFI'S: O course, of course.

CARL SZABO  Senator --

BRIAN HESS: But if you add in caps and
controls, it prevents the market from fluctuating
the way that it naturally would

CARL SZABO  Senator, to flip it on its head,
one of ny good friends, he's a season ticket hol der
for Maryl and basketball, University of Mryl and.

It used to be nore valuable in the past; not
SO0 nuch anynore.

And there is one rabid fan, but there's one

game he would sell every year, and that's Maryl and

ver sus Duke, their nunmber-one rival. He would sel
it every year, and he would sell it above face
val ue.

You know what that woul d do?

That woul d cover the cost of his entire
season of tickets.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S:  Sure.

CARL SZABO |, for exanple, |ikew se, was

able -- lucky enough to go see "Ham lton" in
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Chicago. It was the last-mnute ticket. And it had
been running for a while, so | got the ticket well
bel ow face val ue.

Well, if | had cone here, conme back to D.C
where | live, the Kennedy Center said, Well, you've
got to buy the entire season of Kennedy Center
tickets to have a shot at "Hamilton."

One of the things | considered doi ng was
buying that, and then selling the "Ham |Iton" ticket
to sonmebody who really wanted it, and then just pay
for an entire season of Kennedy Center tickets,
which | otherwi se woul d never have, like, thought of
spendi ng the noney on.

So it does work in both directions as well.

There is a consuner benefit, because | was
able to, essentially, pay for sonething that
| otherwi se couldn't afford, by selling a ticket
that | didn't necessarily want.

BRI AN HESS: Yeah, any kind of price cap wll
af fect the fans' decision when they choose doing the
best in the -- a season ticket. Right?

So a 42-ganme season ticket pass to a basebal
season is a |lot of ganes that you have to commt to,
al so, as a fan right out of the gate.

And | don't know if, you know, ny grandnother
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is going to pass, and | have to go to her funeral
t hat weekend.

| don't know if, you know, maybe | do have an
unexpected nedical bill at sone point, that selling
a ticket for 200 bucks, if that's what the nmarket is
selling those tickets for, mght help ne wth.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: | guess the question is --
sorry to interject.

| guess the question is:

No doubt about it, and | agree with what's
been sai d about season ticket holders, and how, you
know, this is advantageous and pro-consuner for
t hose that are engaged in season tickets.

My question is, for every one season ticket
hol der that benefits, how many | ower-i ncomne
New Yor kers are di sadvantaged by there not being
caps?

You know, is it -- you know, for every one
season ticket holder who sells that Yankees ticket,
where, you know, they've got a big nmatchup agai nst
the Red Sox, you know, are there 5 or 10 or
50 average New York fam lies who cannot access that
Yankees versus Red Sox gane because you have a flood
of tickets on the secondary market way above face

val ue?
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ANNA LAITIN. | think, Senator, you make an
i nteresting point.

And | think some of the things you're talking
about, on limting bots and ot hers, where they
really jack up the prices, that could help with sone
of this.

| think the problemis, for the instance
you' re tal king about, whatever you put the cap at is
where those really exciting tickets are going to end
up.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S:  Sure.

ANNA LAITIN:  And then the | ower-incone
New Yorkers still won't be able to afford them
because you can't -- it would be unfeasible to put
t he cap | ow enough, probably, to make the
mar ket pl ace wor k

So | think better than going for those caps
is to look for ways to elimnate the bots, and get
nore real people buying the tickets at the front
end, so that when we're dealing with the secondary
market, we're dealing nore with the instances that
Carl and Brian are tal king about, of people selling
their tickets, rather than it being a market
conpl etely overrun by the industry that is invested

in buying tickets solely for the purpose of resale.
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BRIAN HESS: And -- but to Anna's point
with -- you know, if we get real people, real fans,
selling individual tickets nore often than an
i ndustry of bots doing it, so, if you price cap it,
you're just sending all of those tickets that are
bei ng bought up by bots on the unregul ated
mar ket pl ace, like Craigslist, which is going to put
those |l owinconme fans that you're rightly concerned
about at a far greater disadvantage, where they have
no protections or guarantees or oversight from
| arger platforns, or even in the public's eye of
what' s goi ng on.

The other way you can address your concern
about maki ng sure that | owincome or working-class
New Yor kers can get access to games is through the
Prof essional Facilities Act that's in New York right
now, which would give -- which would create a cl ass
of tickets for afford -- of -- that's affordable to
the ZIP code in which the stadiumis located to
f ans.

And that's one way.

We have | ong supported that if a stadiumis
t ax-funded, there should be a litany of benefits
that the |local communities get fromthat, because

sel dom do tax-funded stadi uns ever yield economc
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results for localities.

One of those benefits we often tinmes advocate
for is that the | ocal community should get discounts
on tickets, or there should be a local rate for
community of people in that community to get a
| ess- expensi ve ticket.

And there are ways you can craft that |aw as
well, to prevent scal pers from buying up those
| ocal, you know, |ess-expensive tickets, and jacking
up those.

| nean, there's other ways that we can work
on crafting that kind that |egislation, to make sure
the inplenmentation of it serves the need -- the
pur pose.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S:  Ckay. Thank you.

Do you all believe that the state can --
| guess it's a two-parter -- can, and should, if you
think that we can, prohibit primry marketpl aces
fromengaging in a secondary marketpl ace as wel | ?

O course, the obvious conpany here being
Ti cket mast er.

Do you think the state can, basically,
prohi bit that doubl e-di pping that, M. Hess, you
descri bed?

And if so, do you think that we shoul d?
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CARL SZABO. So under the Sherman Act,
| think you do have that power. |It's federal |aw
appl i cabl e by the states.

And | wouldn't do it just whol esal e, because
| think that could get a little sticky.

You do have small er venues that naybe do want
to engage in that. | don't know.

| think it should be done once a business has
achi eved a certain percentage of control of the
primary ticket sales.

| think that's really going to be your
trigger. That way, you can craft it in a way that's
not overincl usive.

Do | think you have the power?

Absol utely.

You absol utely have that power, under your
exi sting state consumer protection |law, or,
literally, you're the | awmkers, you can wite that
law. Your state Constitution would allow it.

But | do think it should be predicated, based
on dom nance of the primary ticket market.

SENATOR SKOUFI S:  Ckay.

And do the rest of you agree? disagree?

JOHN BREYAULT: Senator Skoufis, yes, | agree

with Carl on this point.
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And | do -- | would underscore that the
transferability protections that you're discussing
woul d al so address this issue.

| think it's clear to us that primry
ticketers, like Ticketmaster, are trying to use
transferability restrictions, not to elimnate
resale, but to direct that resale to exchanges that
they control, where they set the fees and the
prices.

BRI AN HESS: Exactly.

SENATCOR SKOUFI'S: W talked a little bit
about the fees.

As you all may know, we have a
"reasonabl eness” clause in Article 25, as it
pertains to ticket sales.

Seens to be a self-defining statute, as we
heard from Ti cket master much earlier on today.

Do you think that we need to better define
t hat "reasonabl eness” provision?

JOHN BREYAULT: Senator Skoufis, | nean,
| think that the all-in pricing issue that we tal ked
about would be a way --

SENATCR SKOUFI'S:  That covers it?

JOHN BREYAULT: -- would cover it.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S:  Ri ght.
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JOHN BREYAULT: | nean, | think that that's
t he best way.

| woul d, however, point out, | can't help but
note that M. Marcus on the first panel was very
qguick to point the finger at venues and artists and
pronoters who set the fees that they end up
char gi ng.

| think what he neglected to nmention to you
was that, those same pronoters and venues and
artists, and Ticketmaster itself, are all owned by
t he sane conpany, Live Nation Entertainnent.

So those fees do -- do end up trickling up to
t he parent conpany regardl ess of who they' re set by.

| thought that that was a fairly disingenuous
comment on his part.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: Do you all agree that
all-in would cover this issue?

[ Si mul t aneous speakers; indiscernible.]

SENATOR SKOUFI S:  Yeah. Ckay.

What about platinumtickets; your thoughts?

Shoul d we be regul ating those specifically,
or those types of tickets, banning thenf

If we're tal king about price controls, maybe
price controls on these type of tickets?

What are your thoughts on what | view -- and,
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you know, it's -- and | neant to quote
Ti cketmaster's website when M. Marcus was here.

They, on their website, claim quote, They
give fans fair and safe access to sone of the best
seats in the house, unguote.

Those are the platinumtickets that they
provi de.

| think nost consunmers who | ook at this
obj ectively would dispute that, you know, Seat 10-A
priced at $10,000, platinumticket, next to
Seat 10-B, the sane seat, basically, priced at, you
know, a third of that, is not exactly fair.

And so ny question to you is: Wiat should we
do about these platinumtickets, if anything?

CARL SZABO | think what you can do is,
just, | think transparency is going to be the first,
nost i nmportant, step.

When it comes to the idea of platinum
tickets, I -- look, I'"'ma free-market guy, so
| appreciate maximzing profit. But trying to
pretend that it's good for the consuner is not
accurate.

When you're setting up a show, you know your
total overhead costs are going to be.

You know how much the venue is going to
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charge, your electricity, your |aw enforcenent,
peopl e who clean it up.

And you take all that, divide by the nunber
of total seats you think you' re going to sell, and
that's the face value of the ticket.

I f you don't think you can get that face
val ue, then you don't have the show.

These are the basic econom cs that every
pronoter goes into a show wth.

So the basis that a platinumticket is good
for a consuner doesn't hold water.

But | do think naking clear the nunber of
tickets that are being used for this behavior wll
really help make clear what's going on, nore so than
just, when | sit down at an event, and | turn to the
person sitting next to me, and find out they paid
$200 less than | did, that's not what you want to
do.

| think being transparent at the front end is
going to be really key to aneliorating a | ot of
t hese probl ens.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: The rest of you, any
t hought s?

JOHN BREYAULT: And, Senator, just to

clarify, when you're tal king about platinumtickets,
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| believe that you're referring to dynam c pricing?
Is that correct?

SENATOR SKOUFI'S:  So, in effect, that's what
it is, yes.

But it's a -- you know, it's a specific
practice that Ticketnaster engages in.

You know, they disputed ny characterization
as, you know, a certain nunber of tickets being
reserved for platinumtickets; but, in effect, that
is what it is.

And they're put on sale shortly after the
mai n pool of tickets is sold out; and, you know,

t hus, they cone at a premumfor sone of their
hi gher-echelon clients, if you wll.

But, yes, effectively, it's dynam c pricing.

JOHN BREYAULT: So | think what concerns ne
nost about dynamic pricing is, what signals are
bei ng used to show a certain price to a certain
consuner ?

The FTC, later this nonth, will be holding a
wor kshop on so-called "dark patterns.”

This takes in idea -- you know, how a certain
price is provided to a certain consuner.

Is it because | have nore Twitter followers

that | got this price?
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Is it because | clicked on an ad at sone
point that | got the price?

|s it because they know that | have a
higher-limt credit card that I'mgetting that
price?

It's all very much a black box, in ternms of
why a particular consuner is provided with a certain
pri ce.

Now, sone of that may be addressed through
all-in pricing requirenments. |If that's the price
that you' re going to charge ne, just let ne know up
front.

But it's -- | think that nore -- nore
transparency into how these prices are being set is
sonmet hing that would help the industry right now

As to whether $10,000 is enough to see
Justin Bieber, | can tell you what | think about
that as a fan of punk rock.

But | -- but isit -- what -- is it -- is it
what the market would bear? | really couldn't tell.

But | can tell you that the signals that go
into setting that price are entirely opaque and
uncl ear to consumners.

SENATOR SKOUFI S:  Ckay.

My | ast question, because | have gone on for




© 00 ~N oo o b~ w N P

N NN N NN P R PR R R R R R R
gag A W N P O © 0o N oo 0o M W N -+ O

222

| ong enough here, is:

Do you -- and this came up a little bit
earlier, or | alluded to it.

Do you believe that these platforns should be
required to report bot activity to prosecutors?

We heard pretty clearly that, yes, it sounds
i ke they respond when the AG or other prosecutors
ask about bot activity.

But they, unpronpted, do not -- do not
forward those referrals to prosecutors when they
di scover them

A. Do you believe that they have the
wherew thal, technol ogy, infrastructure, et cetera,
to very clearly, and relatively easily, identify
when there is bot activity?

And, B. Do you think they should be nandated
to report it?

BRI AN HESS: Yes, and yes.

CARL SZABO  So, Senator, I'mgoing to
di sagree with sone of mny coll eagues on the nandate
for reporting when di scovered, because one of the
things that this would do, it would actually create
a disincentive to seek them out.

Renenber, if I'"'ma primary ticket seller,

what's ny nunber-one goal ?
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My nunber-one goal is to sell tickets.

At the end of the day, | don't care if it's
one person buying 1,000 tickets, or 1,000 people
buyi ng one ticket.

In fact, the former is often easier than the
latter.

By, essentially, crimnalizing failure --
duty to report, it gives even nore of an incentive
to | ower the guard agai nst bots, because, now, if
|"mdoing a great job protecting against bots, and
| neglect to report it, now |I'mon the hook.

| think an alternative could be, an annual
report on the nunber of referrals that were nade.

That way, you're not crimnalizing the
nmonitor and the failure to report, but you' re making
transparent the nunber of referrals that occur.

That way, when, for exanple, you, Senator,
ask the vice president of Ticketmaster in charge of
ticketing, how many referrals he made to your state
AG and he says, "I don't know," he mght actually
have access to that information.

| think that would address it.

SENATOR SKOUFI S:  John and Anna, what are
your thoughts?

JOHN BREYAULT: Senator, |'m going
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respectably disagree with Carl on this one.

CARL SZABO  Ckay.

JOHN BREYAULT: | do think that -- as
| nmentioned in any renmarks, that they should be
required to report this.

As Ticketnmaster never fails to tal k about,
they invest ten of mllions of dollars in fighting
bot usage.

Way woul dn't they want to report this
information to allies, |like the New York Attorney
General's Ofice?

W had a federal "bots" statute on the books
since 2016.

And this January was the very first time that
t he Federal Trade Conmi ssion, and, in fact, as far
as | know, any enforcenment body, has brought a case
agai nst a ticket bot since probably the w se-guys
case, which was m d-2000s. And that wasn't even
under federal "bot" statute.

So they should have every incentive to report

t hi s.

Way they don't, | have my suspi cions.

But | think, given the harmthat illegal bot
usage poses to consuners, | do think that the

organi zations that have the data to show that use,
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Ti cketmaster, other primary ticketers, the venues,
who have access to things |ike the ticket manifest,
shoul d be required to provide that, and they should
be nore willing to do so than pushing back agai nst
requi renents that they are required to do so.

BRI AN HESS: And they do have the ability.

And | think what denonstrates that is what
the "Toronto Star" uncovered a couple of years ago,
when they found out that Ticketmaster, on their
resal e, was actually hel ping brokers use bots to
ci rcummavi gate the bot detection technology to
resell their tickets.

SENATOR SKOUFI'S: Hmm

BRI AN HESS: Ticketmaster has been engaged in
t hi s.

That's -- that's -- mny opinion, why they
aren't actively referring the detections over, is
they want to be in this space; they want to nmake
all -- you know, take all the sales they can,
regardless of if it skirts the |aw or not.

ANNA LAITIN. I'Il junmp in and say an
absol ute yes on, they can do it.

On this question of the mandate, | actually
haven't given it enough thought, and I would like to

spend sone nore tine on that, because | understand
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what Carl is saying; but, at the sane tinme, they are
not doi ng now.

And if a nmandate is what it takes, then that
may be the case.

SENATOR SKOUFI S:  Ckay.

Senat or Kapl an, have you cul tivated any
guestions as |'ve ranbled on here, or are you good?

SENATOR KAPLAN: No. |1've actually enjoyed
listening to everybody.

Thank you so rmuch for your testinony.

| think you highlighted, really, transparency
| think is very -- is key.

And you all brought very good points.

And, again, thank you for comng in, and
testifying.

SENATCOR SKOUFI'S:  Yeah, and I'Il echo that.

| want to thank each of you

You all provided a |ot of great information
and insight.

| suspect that we will be in touch in the
weeks ahead as we contenpl ate the sunset that --
that's due on July 1st.

But, you know, this is -- this has been
terrific testinony.

Thanks to each of you.
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And t hanks to everyone who has hung in there
with us over the |ast few hours.

Thi s concl udes our heari ng.

| want to, in particular, thank, fromnmny
office, Evan Gallo, as well as Tara MCoy; and
central staff for assisting with the technol ogi cal
capabilities here as we have conducted the heari ng;
and all ny coll eagues as well who parti ci pated.

Thanks very much, everybody.

Enj oy the rest of the day.

JOHN BREYAULT: Thank you, Senators.

ANNA LAITIN. Thank you

(Wher eupon, at approxinmately 1:54 p.m,
the public hearing held by the joint conmttees

concl uded, and adj ourned.)
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